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CORPORATE DISCLOSURE STATEMENT 

Pursuant to Rule 26.1 of the Federal Rules of Appellate Procedure, 

Defendants-Appellees Monex Credit Company and Monex Deposit Company are 

both California limited partnerships.  Defendant-Appellee Newport Services 

Corporation is a California Sub-S corporation, has no parent corporation and no 

publicly held corporation owns 10% or more of its stock. 
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INTRODUCTION 

The District Court properly ruled that the Commodity Futures Trading 

Commission (“CFTC”), which regulates derivatives and futures contracts, lacks 

jurisdiction to bring these claims against Monex.1  The CFTC dodges its own 

published, and directly on-point, Interpretation example — expressly recognizing 

the “actual delivery” cash transactions at issue here as outside its jurisdiction — by 

burying sole reference to it in a footnote appearing 56 pages into its brief.  The 

CFTC then misleads the Court by calling it a “proposed” example, despite 

knowing it incorporated the example verbatim into its Final Interpretation. 

The CFTC then invents a fiction that Congress, with its Dodd-Frank 

amendments to the Commodity Exchange Act (“CEA”), silently expanded the 

CFTC’s sales fraud jurisdiction from futures and derivatives to all cash commodity 

transactions in national commerce.  The CFTC thus claims jurisdiction over the 

very “actual delivery” transactions that Congress expressly excepted in the same 

Dodd-Frank amendments and which its Interpretation example directly addresses.  

The CFTC’s supposed “plain meaning” CEA §6(c)(1) reading would also give it 

sales fraud jurisdiction over virtually every commodity sale imaginable, including 

everyday grocery purchases.   

1 Appellees Monex Credit Company (“MCC”), Monex Deposit Company 
(“MDC”), Newport Services Corporation, Louis Carabini and Michael Carabini are 
collectively referred to as “Monex.” 
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Because its jurisdictional overreach is so blatant and limitless, the CFTC 

seeks to enflame the Court with untrue sales fraud allegations that are irrelevant to 

the jurisdictional issues on appeal.  Rule 12(b)(6) puts Monex at a disadvantage by 

preventing it from refuting those allegations here with extensive record evidence 

before the District Court on the related preliminary injunction and Daubert

motions; but as a matter of law, the CFTC’s jurisdictional assertions are meritless.   

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT 

Monex does not contest the CFTC’s subject-matter or appellate jurisdiction 

statement. 

ISSUES PRESENTED 

1. Did the District Court correctly hold that financed retail commodity 

transactions in which, within 28-days, the seller: (a) physically delivers the entire 

quantity of the commodity in fungible bulk form to a third-party depository for the 

buyer to be held as collateral, and (b) transfers ownership title to that quantity of 

the commodity to the buyer, satisfy the Actual Delivery Exception under CEA 

§2(c)(2)(D)(ii)(III)(aa), 7 U.S.C. §2(c)(2)(D)(ii)(III)(aa)? 

2. Did the District Court abuse its discretion in dismissing Counts 1, 2 

and 4 of the Complaint with prejudice where the CFTC does not contest facts 

establishing the Actual Delivery Exception per its own Interpretation? 
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3. Did the District Court correctly hold that CEA §6(c)(1), 7 U.S.C. §9, 

applies only to frauds that manipulate or have the potential to manipulate market 

prices, and not to ordinary sales fraud for transactions excepted from CEA 

regulation? 

STATUTES AND REGULATIONS 

An addendum containing relevant statutes and regulations is appended to 

this brief. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The CFTC sued Monex alleging: (1) off-exchange transactions in violation 

of CEA §4(a), 7 U.S.C. §6(a) (Count 1); (2) fraud in violation of CEA 

§4b(a)(2)(A) and (C), 7 U.S.C. §6b(a)(2)(A), (C) (Count 2); (3) fraud in violation 

of CEA §6(c)(1) and Regulation 180.1(a)(1)-(3), 7 U.S.C. §9(1) and 17 C.F.R. 

§180.1(a)(1)-(3) (Count 3); and (4) failure to register as to financed transactions in 

violation of CEA §4d, 7 U.S.C. §6d (Count 4).  ER664-70 ¶¶70-100.  The CFTC 

also sought a preliminary injunction.  ER637-40. 

In Counts 1, 2, and 4, the CFTC’s Complaint doesn’t mention either the 

Actual Delivery Exception from its CEA §2 enforcement jurisdiction (7 U.S.C. 

§2(c)(2)(D)(ii)(III)(aa)) or its Interpretation on actual delivery (78 Fed. Reg. 
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52426).  But the Complaint’s allegations and incorporated documents2 establish 

that Monex makes actual delivery consistent with its Interpretation, (discussed in 

section I.A.4 below), because within 28 days, Monex: 

 delivers to an unaffiliated depository on the buyer’s behalf the entire 

quantity of purchased metals in fungible bulk form, including any 

financed portion (ER163-64 ¶7.3; ER654 ¶39); and 

 transfers title to that entire quantity of metals to the buyer (ER164 ¶7.4; 

ER654 ¶41). 

For “short” transactions (Atlas commodity loans), the customer borrows 

commodities from MCC that are delivered to the depository within 28 days with 

title passing to the customer, at which time the customer sells the commodities to 

MDC and transfers title to MDC.  ER173 ¶7.  The CFTC doesn’t assert that Monex 

exercises its rights over financed metals other than as agreed in the AAA.  ER29 

n.4.  

In Count 3, under CEA §6(c)(1), the CFTC does not allege that Monex’s 

supposed practices have the potential to impact market prices.  While legally 

irrelevant here, the AAA refutes on its face the CFTC’s allegations regarding 

Monex representing itself as a fiduciary, and omitting to disclose risks of spreads, 

2 The CFTC conceded below that Monex’s Atlas Account Agreement (“AAA”) 
(ER161-81) was properly considered for Monex’s Rule 12(b)(6) motion.  ER23-24 
n.1; SER58 (10:14-24).   
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fees, margin calls, and leveraged investing.  E.g., ER163 ¶4.2, ER165 ¶12, 

ER170 ¶16, ER179 ¶36 (Monex not a fiduciary); ER164 ¶8, ER165 ¶9.3 (spreads 

and how to calculate break even points); ER163-64 ¶¶9.1, 9.2, 9.4 (account fees); 

ER173 ¶3, ER175 ¶16, ER179 ¶36.e (margin calls); ER163 ¶3, ER170 ¶17.d (risks 

of metals investment); ER166 ¶12, ER172 ¶3, ER179 ¶36.f (risk of investing with 

borrowed funds). 

The District Court ordered simultaneous consideration of Monex’s motion to 

dismiss and the CFTC’s preliminary injunction motion.  It thus had before it 

admissions on “actual delivery” from the CFTC’s Rule 30(b)(6) witness, Deputy 

General Counsel Robert Schwartz, additionally showing that leave to amend 

Counts 1, 2 and 4, now requested on appeal, would be futile.  The CFTC, through 

Mr. Schwartz, agreed that: (1) the depositories always have the metals to meet 

every customer position on any given day and the CFTC knows of no customer 

being unable to obtain fully paid-for metals, SER421 (30:15-17), SER453 (86:4-

21); (2) Monex accounts daily to the depositories regarding each customer’s 

ownership position and the CFTC knows of no accounting errors, SER442 (76:19-

77:7), SER460 (94:5-8); (3) holding metals in fungible form is consistent with the 

CFTC’s Interpretation, SER442 (76:23-77:11); (4) the depositories Monex uses are 

unaffiliated, recognized depositories, SER439 (72:15-73:1); (5) the CFTC has no 

reason to doubt customer ownership of metals to which title has been transferred, 
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SER432-35 (60:15-63:8); (6) the CFTC is unaware of Monex ever issuing a 

margin call without reason, SER448 (79:19-21); and (7) liquidation can usefully 

limit a customer’s losses in falling markets, SER475 (111:15-112:6).  

On May 1, 2018, the District Court found the alleged facts demonstrate that 

Monex complied with the Actual Delivery Exception and dismissed with prejudice 

Counts 1, 2, and 4.  ER32.  The District Court further found that CEA §6(c)(1) 

prohibits only fraud-based manipulation and dismissed Count 3 with leave to 

amend.  ER40.  The CFTC declined to amend (ER13-20) and the District Court 

subsequently dismissed Count 3 with prejudice and entered final judgment (ER8-9, 

10-12).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

In amendments to the CEA in the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and 

Consumer Protection Act (“Dodd-Frank”), Pub. L. No. 111-203, §742, 124 Stat. 

1376 (2010), Congress rejected a CFTC proposal to give it jurisdiction over retail 

metals dealers, like Monex, who timely deliver financed, collateralized metal 

purchases to customers at a depository.  Congress instead withheld those “actual 

delivery” transactions from CFTC jurisdiction in CEA §2 (as they always had been 

pre-Dodd-Frank).  See infra section I.A.3.  Indeed, Congress used Monex as the 

“actual delivery” example during its Dodd-Frank hearing.  E.g., SER204, SER218, 

SER221.  The CFTC subsequently issued an Interpretation, including an on-point 
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example, recognizing these transactions as outside its jurisdiction.  78 Fed. Reg. 

52426,  52429 (Aug. 23, 2013).  The CFTC mentions that dispositive example here 

only in a footnote.  The Interpretation states that “actual delivery” “will have 

occurred,” where, as here, metals are delivered in fungible bulk form to an 

unaffiliated depository, with title transfer, notwithstanding that the metals may be 

leveraged and subject to margin.  Id.

The CFTC refuses to accept Congress’ rejection of its proposed jurisdiction 

over Monex and similar financed retail metals dealers.  It has, in a series of cases 

including this one, asserted litigation positions to achieve indirectly what Congress 

denied it directly.  See infra section I.A.5.  First, it has distorted the Eleventh 

Circuit’s decision in CFTC v. Hunter Wise Commodities, LLC, 749 F.3d 967 (11th 

Cir. 2014), to argue that “actual delivery” occurs only where customers have 

unfettered physical possession and control of metals — even before loan 

repayment.  Hunter Wise held no such thing; it was instead a case where the metals 

dealers had no metals to sell or deliver.  Another court previously rejected the 

CFTC’s attempt to misuse Hunter Wise, noting that the CFTC’s position would 

eliminate Congress’ “actual delivery” exception.  See CFTC v. Worth, 2014 WL 

11350233 (S.D. Fla. Oct. 27, 2014). 

The CFTC also asserts that — notwithstanding Congress’ express 

jurisdictional rejection — it has CEA §6(c)(1) plenary anti-fraud jurisdiction over 
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not only these financed transactions, but over all interstate retail cash commodity 

transactions.  Congress in Dodd-Frank, however, directed that §6(c)(1) anti-fraud 

provision only at frauds that can manipulate prices and markets.  See infra sections 

II.A, II.G.  It does not apply to ordinary sales fraud as alleged here, which is 

instead covered in CEA §4b and cabined to transactions for which Congress 

created CFTC jurisdiction in CEA §2.  See infra sections II.D.2, II.E. 

To achieve this unprecedented and almost infinite jurisdictional expansion, 

the CFTC urges the Court to focus only on the placement of a single “or” (between 

“deceptive” and “manipulative”) in one phrase of one section of the entire CEA.  

But the CEA and Dodd-Frank amendments read as a whole, legislative history, the 

CFTC’s contemporaneous public comments, and common sense all demonstrate 

that §6(c)(1) did not grant the CFTC expansive sales fraud jurisdiction over all 

cash commodity sales.  Rather, Congress simply strengthened the CFTC’s anti-

manipulation authority by allowing it to pursue fraud-based manipulation under a 

standard of intent lower than §6(c)(3)’s specific intent to cause an artificial price.  

See 76 Fed. Reg. 41398, at 41404-05 (July 14, 2011) (ER101-14); infra sections 

II.G, II.H.  In so doing, Congress put the CFTC on a statutory footing similar to 

other federal market regulators, including FERC, to police potentially manipulative 

frauds within their existing jurisdiction.  See SER273; infra section II.I.  Indeed, 

  Case: 18-55815, 10/15/2018, ID: 11047850, DktEntry: 26, Page 20 of 97



10 

Congress explicitly rejected CEA coverage for cash market “actual delivery” 

transactions as part of the same Dodd-Frank amendments. 

Ultimately, the CFTC challenges a business model that it dislikes because it 

insists that retail commodity customers do not appreciate the risks of leveraged 

speculation and should trade only on regulated exchanges.  The CFTC’s 

inflammatory fraud allegations, while untrue, cannot create jurisdiction where none 

exists.  The Court should affirm the judgment of the District Court which correctly 

saw this case as an extreme agency overreach. 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

While the Court reviews the 12(b)(6) dismissal de novo, it considers not only 

alleged facts, but also documents incorporated by reference and matters subject to 

judicial notice.  Friedman v. AARP, Inc., 855 F.3d 1047, 1051 (9th Cir. 2017). 

The Court reviews the District Court’s decision to deny leave to amend with 

respect to Counts 1, 2 and 4 for abuse of discretion.  Alvarez v. Chevron Corp., 656 

F.3d 925, 931 (9th Cir. 2011). 

ARGUMENT 

I. The District Court Correctly Dismissed Counts 1, 2, and 4 Because 
Monex Makes “Actual Delivery.” 

Congress decided that the CFTC’s jurisdiction over retail commodity 

transactions “shall not apply to a contract of sale that results in actual delivery 

within 28 days[.]”  7 U.S.C. §2(c)(2)(D)(ii)(III)(aa) (“Actual Delivery Exception”).  
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The District Court correctly determined that the allegations and incorporated 

documents establish such delivery.3

A. Monex Complies with the Actual Delivery Exception. 

1. Monex’s Delivery Satisfies The Exception’s Plain Text. 

Nothing in the CEA expressly defines “actual delivery.”  The plain text does 

not require delivery to a particular person, in any particular way, or free from 

encumbrances — it requires only that delivery be “actual.”  7 U.S.C. 

§2(c)(2)(D)(ii)(III)(aa).  “Actual” means “[e]xisting in fact; real.”  Black’s Law 

Dictionary (10th ed. 2014) (SER479).  “Delivery” means “[t]he formal act of 

voluntarily transferring something; esp., the act of bringing goods … to a particular 

person or place.”  Id. (SER480).  Monex makes “actual delivery” because the 

metals exist in fact and, upon sale, are voluntarily delivered to independent 

3 Reversing position from below, the CFTC now leads with its CEA §6(c)(1) fraud 
arguments.  Monex develops first the Actual Delivery Exception point to clarify 
the interplay between CEA §2 (which, for covered transactions, grants the CFTC 
jurisdiction over ordinary fraud via CEA §4b), and §6(c)(1) (which covers only 
frauds with market-impact potential).  The CFTC’s lack of jurisdiction makes its 
fraud claims irrelevant.  CFTC v. White Pine Trust Corp., 574 F.3d 1219, 1227 
(9th Cir. 2009) (dismissing fraud claims because CEA §2 precluded jurisdiction); 
CFTC v. Sterling Trading Grp., Inc., 605 F. Supp. 2d 1245, 1267 (S.D. Fla. 2009) 
(CFTC’s jurisdiction “is not at all affected by whether Defendants committed the 
fraudulent practices”).  Any supposed fraud can always be addressed under state 
law, but the CFTC has jurisdiction only over transactions covered by the CEA. 
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depositories for the buyer’s benefit, subject to typical secured financing 

restrictions.  See ER654 ¶39; ER163-64 ¶¶7.3, 7.4.4

The crux of the CFTC’s “plain-text” argument is the Eleventh Circuit’s 

inapposite decision in Hunter Wise, discussed in section I.A.5 below, and a third 

definition in Black’s Law Dictionary of the combined term “actual delivery” in a 

non-financing context.  Namely: “[t]he act of giving real and immediate possession 

to the buyer or the buyer’s agent.”  See CFTC Br. 26, 46.  The CFTC alleges that, 

under this definition, Monex’s delivery is a “sham” because customer accounts are 

subject to margin calls and possible liquidation, and customers do not have 

personal possession and control of collateralized metals before loan repayment.  

See id. 12-13.  But, as the District Court noted, these are normal security attributes 

of financed/leveraged/margined transactions to which the Actual Delivery 

Exception exclusively applies.  ER29. 

The CFTC’s interpretation would thus read the words “margined,” 

“leveraged,” and “financed” out of the provision.  7 U.S.C. §2(c)(2)(D)(i) & 

(ii)(III)(aa); see, e.g., Black’s Law Dictionary (10th ed. 2014) (“Margin” is “[a] 

speculator’s cash or securities deposited as collateral with a stockbroker.” 

4 Monex’s documentation is legally effective to transfer title with whatever liens 
are “explicitly agreed on by the parties.”  See Cal. Com. Code §2-401(2)(b).  The 
AAA expressly provides that transfer of title to commodities shall pass when such 
commodities are designated for the customer at the depository.  See ER164 ¶7.4. 
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(emphasis added)).  The District Court correctly concluded that under the CFTC’s 

reading, “every financed transaction would violate Dodd-Frank” and “the result 

would be to eliminate the Actual Delivery Exception from the CEA.”  ER29 

(quoting CFTC v. Worth Grp., Inc., 2014 WL 11350233, at *2); see also Corley v. 

United States, 556 U.S. 303, 314 (2009) (“[a] statute should be construed so that 

effect is given to all its provisions” (citation omitted)). 

Congress gave the CFTC rulemaking authority only to lengthen the 28-day 

period, not to define “actual delivery.”5  No agency deference exists when a court 

must resolve the issue in litigation6 and where the agency’s litigation-specific 

position contradicts its published policy, and lacks legitimate statutory relevance.  

See CFTC v. Am. Precious Metals, LLC, 845 F. Supp. 2d 1279, 1286-87 (S.D. Fla. 

2011) (no Chevron deference where CFTC’s litigation position is inconsistent with 

its interim final rule); FTC v. Invention Submission Corp., 965 F.2d 1086, 1089 

(D.C. Cir. 1992) (courts reject an “agency’s own appraisal of relevancy” where it 

is “obviously wrong”). 

5 7 U.S.C. §2(c)(2)(D)(ii)(III)(aa).  Absent delegation, an agency’s interpretive 
statements are “undeserving of substantial deference under Chevron.”  Atchison, 
Topeka & Santa Fe Ry. Co. v. Pena, 44 F.3d 437, 442 (7th Cir. 1994).  Instead, 
courts test “the thoroughness, validity, and consistency of the agency’s reasoning.”  
Id. (citation omitted). 
6 CFTC v. Zelener, 373 F.3d 861, 867 (7th Cir. 2004) (citing Adams Fruit Co. v. 
Barrett, 494 U.S. 638, 649-50 (1990)). 
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For undefined terms, courts look to the statutory “context” and the agency’s 

prior positions.  United States v. Maciel-Alcala, 612 F.3d 1092, 1098 (9th Cir. 

2010).   

2. The Regulatory and Legislative Context Supports Monex. 

Before express Dodd-Frank authorization, the CFTC regulated certain 

financed retail commodity transactions.  The CFTC applied a functional approach 

to whether such transactions were actually futures contracts masquerading as cash 

transactions.  In 1985, however, the CFTC’s Office of General Counsel clarified in 

Interpretive Letter 85-2 that financed metals transactions resulting in prompt 

delivery to a third-party depository would not be subject to CFTC jurisdiction.  

SER286-87 & n.4.   

The CFTC also did not assert jurisdiction over dealers who complied with 

the Model State Commodity Code (“Model Code”), which was drafted by state 

regulators with input from the CFTC and National Futures Association (“NFA”).7

The Model Code exempts from regulation financed retail metals transactions if, 

within a specified time, the purchased metals are: (i) physically delivered, (ii) in 

segregated or “fungible bulk form,” (iii) to the customer or an independent 

depository on the purchaser’s behalf, (iv) with document confirming title delivered 

to the customer by the depository, (v) even if the metals remain subject to agreed-

7 SER210.  The NFA works with the CFTC to protect futures investors.  SER202. 
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upon “liens and encumbrances.”  Cal. Corp. Code §29531(b) (California adoption); 

SER293-94 §1.04(a)(2) (Model Code).  Thus, pre-Dodd-Frank, Monex and other 

dealers using this depository model were always outside CFTC jurisdiction.8

Congress in the Dodd-Frank amendments used Monex as the model for 

“actual delivery” transactions that would continue to be exempt from CFTC 

jurisdiction.  Those amendments resulted from CFTC v. Zelener, 373 F.3d 861 (7th 

Cir. 2004), which in the foreign currency field rejected the CFTC’s open-ended 

functional approach to jurisdiction as creating uncertainty.  Id. at 866-67.  Zelener

noted that the CFTC’s approach wrongly permitted sales resulting in prompt 

delivery of physical commodities to be classified as “futures” contracts.  Id. at 864.  

It explained: “In organized futures markets, people buy and sell contracts, not 

commodities.”  Id. at 865.  With Dodd-Frank, Congress addressed Zelener’s 

concerns by more clearly defining which retail commodity arrangements would be 

treated as “future contracts” covered by the CEA. 

To this end, Congress gave the CFTC express authority over retail 

transactions involving leverage, margin or financing, 7 U.S.C. §2(c)(2)(D)(i), while 

simultaneously excepting from the CEA and the CFTC’s authority any such 

8 See Linkenhoger v. Monex Int’l Ltd., 1998 WL 1551440 (CFTC Feb. 17, 1988), 
available at SER180-82; Motzek v. Monex, 1993 WL 176296 (CFTC May 24, 
1993). 
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transactions, “that result[] in actual delivery within 28 days.”  Id.

§2(c)(2)(D)(ii)(III)(aa). 

The only public legislative discussion of this provision was the June 2009 

hearing before the House Subcommittee on General Farm Commodities and Risk 

Management (“2009 Hearing”).  SER188-231.  Congress there addressed the scope 

of potential CFTC jurisdiction over financed retail commodity transactions after 

Zelener.  SER192-93.  Congress’ stated concern was eliminating bucket shops and 

Ponzi schemers who had no metals to sell.  See SER194, SER199, SER224-25. 

First, NFA President Dan Roth testified about the NFA’s proposed response 

to Zelener (which Congress ultimately adopted), stating that it should preserve the 

“1985 interpretative letter issued by the CFTC’s Office of General Counsel, which 

Monex International and similar entities rely on.”  SER204 (emphasis added); 

see also SER203-04.  Roth specifically stated that the proposed legislation “would 

not affect Monex.”  SER218 (emphasis added). 

Second, Philip Feigin, a Monex representative and former state regulator, 

presented testimony and documentation regarding Monex’s Model Code delivery.  

SER205-06, SER208 (describing Monex’s delivery), SER210-12 (describing how 

Model Code prohibited dealers who lacked physical commodities to deliver).   

Third, CFTC Enforcement Director Stephen Obie described the authority the 

CFTC was seeking following Zelener.  He confirmed that the CFTC was “not 
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looking at where tangible products are delivered.”  SER230.  It instead wanted to 

reach “fraudsters and Ponzi schemers” and “swindlers” who had recently left the 

foreign exchange markets and entered the metals markets following Zelener.  

SER199, SER224.  Obie never once contested Monex’s decades-long delivery 

history presented to Congress as the model for “actual delivery.” 

Finally, Congressman Marshall expressed his view that if retailers complied 

with the Model Code, the CFTC could “go after the Ponzi schemes that are now 

popping up … and Monex and others who are … actually delivering would be 

okay and they wouldn’t have to fool with you guys.”  SER221 (emphasis added).9

3. Congress Rejected the CFTC’s Proposed Alternative 
“Actual Delivery” Definition. 

Congress declined the CFTC’s request following the 2009 Hearing to define 

“actual delivery” the way the CFTC asserts here.  Two months after the 2009 

Hearing, then-CFTC Chairman Gensler sent Congress a “memo with 

recommendations to improve the [Dodd-Frank] legislation.”  SER234.  Gensler’s 

proposal defined “actual delivery” to preclude “delivery to a third party in a 

9 The CFTC now argues that the 2009 Hearing provides no insight into Congress’ 
“actual delivery” intent, noting that Monex lobbied against CFTC oversight and 
claiming that Monex omitted supposed, but unspecified facts, before Congress.  
CFTC Br. 58.  But when defining “actual delivery” in its own Interpretation, the 
CFTC referred market participants to this very Hearing to understand “actual 
delivery.”  See infra section I.A.4.  This argument also ignores that everyone at the 
hearing — including the CFTC, which had twice investigated Monex — agreed 
that Monex complied with actual delivery under the Zelener fix.  See infra n.13. 
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financed transaction where the commodity is held as collateral,” and also reduced 

the 28-day delivery time to three days.  SER240.  A subsequent draft incorporating 

this proposed language came before and was adopted by the Senate on May 20, 

2010.  SER269 §742(bb)(v). 

Congress, however, ultimately rejected the CFTC’s proposal.  See 7 U.S.C. 

§2(c)(2)(D)(ii)(III).  Because “the final draft of [the] statute delete[d] language 

contained in an earlier draft, [the] court may presume that the earlier draft is 

inconsistent with ultimate congressional intention.”  In re Town & Country Home 

Nursing Servs., Inc., 963 F.2d 1146, 1151 (9th Cir. 1991);  INS v. Cardoza-

Fonseca, 480 U.S. 421, 442-43 (1987) (“Few principles of statutory construction 

are more compelling than the proposition that Congress does not intend sub

silentio to enact statutory language that it has earlier discarded in favor of other 

language.” (citation omitted)). 

4. Monex Follows the CFTC’s Public Interpretation. 

The CFTC’s litigation position contradicts its own Interpretation.  In 

December 2011, the CFTC issued an interpretation and request for public comment 

regarding the meaning of “actual delivery.”  76 Fed. Reg. 77670 (Dec. 14, 2011) 

(SER280-82).  The CFTC subsequently incorporated this proposal into its final 

August 23, 2013 Interpretation.  78 Fed. Reg. 52426 (SER275-78).   
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To understand “actual delivery,” the Commission directed market 

participants to the “legislative history of the new CEA section 

2(c)(2)(D)(ii)(III)(aa) described above,” and specifically to the 2009 Hearing.  See 

76 Fed. Reg. at 77671 n.12 (quoting the 2009 Hearing), 77672 (directing reader to 

legislative history to determine “Congress’s intent when it enacted section 742(a) 

of the Dodd-Frank Act”). 

The Interpretation included specific examples of when “actual delivery” 

would or would not occur.  Example 2 is on point: 

Actual delivery will have occurred if, within 28 days, the seller has: 
(1) Physically delivered the entire quantity of the commodity 
purchased by the buyer, including any portion of the purchase made 
using leverage, margin, or financing, whether in specifically 
segregated or fungible bulk form, into the possession of a depository 
other than the seller and its parent company, partners, agents, and 
other affiliates…; and (2) has transferred title to that quantity of the 
commodity to the buyer. 

78 Fed. Reg. at 52428 (emphasis added).  This example is unequivocal, admitting 

of no exceptions.  As the CFTC explained:  

The Commission provides the following non-exclusive examples to 
illustrate how it will determine whether actual delivery has occurred 
within the meaning of new CEA section 2(c)(2)(D)(ii)(III)(aa).  The 
Commission may also determine that actual delivery has occurred in 
circumstances beyond those described in the first two examples….

Id. (emphasis added).  Example 2, contrary to the CFTC’s arguments here, permits 

delivery of financed or margined metals in fungible bulk form to unaffiliated 
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depositories.10  Financing contemplates collateral, and margin contemplates margin 

calls.  Fungible bulk delivery contemplates fractional interests in the whole by all 

customers, not unfettered physical possession and control by each customer. 

It is this Example 2 that the CFTC hides in a footnote.  Worse, the CFTC 

misrepresents that the example appeared only in “a proposed CFTC guidance 

document” in which “the Commission indicated that ‘actual delivery’ can occur.”  

CFTC Br. 56-57 n.10 (emphasis added).  The CFTC conceals that the proposed 

example was also copied verbatim in its Final Interpretation.  Compare 76 Fed. Reg. 

at 77672 (Request for Comments), with 78 Fed. Reg. at 52428 (Final Interpretation).  

The CFTC then compounds its footnote misrepresentation; it asserts that actual 

delivery merely “can occur” under Example 2, whereas its Interpretation states 

unequivocally that actual delivery under the example “will have occurred.” 

The Interpretation further clarifies that, based on this example, “an 

agreement, contract, or transaction that results in ‘physical delivery’ within the 

meaning of section 1.04(a)(2)(i)-(iii) of the [Model Code] would ordinarily result 

in ‘actual delivery’” absent a sham.  76 Fed. Reg. at 77672 n.25.  Monex’s delivery 

is, and for thirty years has been, Model-Code compliant.  SER293-94 §1.04(a)(2); 

Cal. Corp. Code §29531(b). 

10 While Monex follows Example 2 by using independent depositories, the CFTC 
further explained that under appropriate circumstances even delivery to “an affiliate 
of the seller” could suffice.  78 Fed. Reg. at 52427. 
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5. The CFTC Mischaracterizes Hunter Wise.  

The CFTC distorts CFTC v. Hunter Wise Commodities, LLC, 749 F.3d 967 

(11th Cir. 2014), to jettison its own Interpretation.  Defendants there “purported to 

transfer precious metals into or out of customers’ accounts.”  Id. at 972.  But 

defendants “owned no metals” and thus “had no metals to deliver.”  Id. at 973, 978.  

The Eleventh Circuit found that “actual delivery” requires the “real” and 

“immediate” “physical transfer” of the commodity, and that Hunter Wise instead 

engaged in naked accounting book-entries to transfer title to non-existent metals.  

Id. at 979-80.  The court limited its analysis to these facts: “We need not define the 

precise boundaries of ‘actual delivery’ here, as we can say with confidence that the 

exception does not cover the sort of constructive delivery [the defendants] insist 

occurred.”  Id. at 979. 

Hunter Wise did not hold that customers must have unfettered physical 

possession and control before repaying their loans.  Hunter Wise is instead the 

paradigm of what Congress intended to stop with Dodd-Frank, a bucket shop or 

Ponzi scheme backed by no actual metals.  SER194, SER224-25.  Hunter Wise

quoted with approval the CFTC’s Interpretation that expressly allows seller 

delivery of the customer-owned metal to an unaffiliated depository.  See Hunter 

Wise, 749 F.3d at 980. 
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In CFTC v. Worth, 2014 WL 11350233 (S.D. Fla. Oct. 27, 2014), the court 

rejected a similar CFTC attempt to misuse Hunter Wise.  In that case, filed prior to 

Hunter Wise, the CFTC did not claim, as here, that physical delivery to a 

depository plus transferring title failed to accomplish actual delivery, 

notwithstanding liens and liquidations rights.  SER537 ¶¶66-68 (Complaint).  

Rather, it complained only that on certain occasions the Worth defendants did not 

make depository delivery within 28 days, and in those instances lost their 

exception.  SER538-39 ¶74.  Indeed, the CFTC there confirmed that it “does not 

allege that there is anything violative with Worth’s practice of making ‘actual 

delivery’ by physically delivering metal to a depository and allocating it to an 

account held in the customer’s name.”  SER622.  It stated that “ownership of 

metals is transferred directly from Worth to its customers” by delivery of the 

metals to the depository and title transfer.  SER496; see also SER575 

(monitor’s report finding “actual delivery” satisfied).

But after Hunter Wise was decided, the CFTC reversed course and argued 

that even defendant’s 28-day delivery was not “actual delivery” because customers 

lacked physical possession before loan repayment.  When requesting leave to 

amend, the CFTC admitted that it was applying new, unpublished rules based on 

Hunter Wise: 

THE COURT: Is the amended complaint based upon this new decision [in 
Hunter Wise]? 
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MR. CHU: That’s correct, Your Honor. 
THE COURT: So what you’re saying is all of the rules have changed in the 
middle of this thing? 
MR. CHU: Your Honor, yes, essentially the Eleventh Circuit decision which 
was rendered, yes. 

SER649-50.  The Worth court denied leave to amend, finding, inter alia, that the 

CFTC’s new interpretation “would mean that, regardless of Worth’s allocation 

procedures, recordkeeping, and whether it purchased physical metals at all, each 

and every financed transaction would violate Dodd-Frank.”  Worth, 2014 WL 

11350233, at *2.  The court also noted that the CFTC’s new, unannounced position 

violated the defendant’s constitutional right to fair notice.  See id. at *3.  That is 

also true here since, while the CFTC contends that “the rules have changed,” its 

published Interpretation remains unchanged. 

The CFTC also wrongly asserts that Monex’s business model is similar to 

the program this Court found to involve off-exchange futures in a pre-Dodd-Frank 

decision.  CFTC Br. 47, 53 (citing CFTC v. Noble Metals Int’l, Inc., 67 F.3d 766 

(9th Cir. 1995)).  The CFTC cannot use Noble Metals to overturn the subsequent 

Actual Delivery Exception and its own Interpretation.  Moreover, the CFTC’s own 

Noble Metals appeal brief belies the comparison.  SER32 (“…Noble never had 

sufficient quantities of metal to support its delivery obligations to customers.”); 

SER34 n.14 (the metals “simply did not exist.”).  Noble Metals, like Hunter Wise, 

presents another example of what Congress addressed with its Dodd-Frank 
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amendments: a bucket shop with no physical commodities.  For the CFTC to snipe 

at the District Court for considering the CFTC’s revelatory Noble Metals appellate 

brief defines disingenuous. 

Further, we don’t have to look to Noble Metals to speculate how Monex 

would have fared pre-Dodd-Frank.  As noted, the CFTC always treated Monex and 

similar Model Code compliant firms as outside its jurisdiction pre-Dodd-Frank 

when Noble Metals was decided.  Supra section I.A.2 & n.8.  That the CFTC 

doubles down on its mischaracterization of Noble Metals, a pre-Dodd-Frank case, 

while jettisoning its own current Interpretation, demonstrates the utter lack of 

support for its new, post-Hunter Wise agenda. 

6. The CFTC’s “Sham” Assertion is Frivolous.  

The CFTC mislabels Monex delivery as a “sham,” since that is the only 

Interpretation exception to Model Code delivery.  78 Fed. Reg. at 52428 & n.25.  

But, as the District Court noted, the CFTC’s made-up sham factors, including 

margin calls and possible liquidation, are normal attributes of the transactions 

Congress excepted.  ER29. 

Nor can the CFTC avoid its Interpretation by pervasively mislabeling 

Monex a “trading platform” or “mimic futures exchange,” and by insisting that 

Monex customers are speculating on prices with no intention of taking personal 

delivery from the depository.  E.g., CFTC Br. 3, 12-13, 24, 48-50.  Congress’ 
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Actual Delivery Exception does not turn on customer intent, speculation, or 

sophistication level.11  It turns on whether physical 28-day delivery occurs, and the 

CFTC’s Interpretation endorses fungible bulk-form depository delivery.  The 

CFTC’s “intent” argument would again read the words “leveraged” and 

“margined” out of the Actual Delivery Exception since purchasers using leverage 

or margin generally do so to speculate on price movements.  The Model Code, on 

which Congress based its Actual Delivery Exception, specifically contemplates in 

its Preamble that the public will “trade and invest” in code-compliant instruments.  

SER289.  Congress was comfortable excepting transactions that may involve 

speculative trading as long as real metals support each transaction.  Indeed, the 

CFTC’s amorphous “customer intent” standard (customers’ intents are myriad) 

reintroduces the very uncertainty that Zelener and other decisions rejected and 

which Congress fixed with Dodd-Frank’s clear 28-day delivery requirement.  

Zelener, 373 F.3d at 866 (“Nothing is worse than an approach that asks what the 

parties ‘intended’ or that scrutinizes the percentage of contracts that led to delivery 

ex post.”).12

11 There is no CEA “suitability” rule.  Wasnick v. Refco, Inc., 911 F.2d 345, 348 
n.2 (9th Cir. 1990). 
12 Accord Bank Brussels Lambert, S.A. v. Intermetals Corp., 779 F. Supp. 741, 749 
(S.D.N.Y. 1991) (speculation in spot contracts not covered by CEA); CFTC v. 
Fleury, 2006 WL 8434784, at *7 (S.D. Fla. Sept. 6, 2006) (well established that 

  Case: 18-55815, 10/15/2018, ID: 11047850, DktEntry: 26, Page 36 of 97



26 

7. The Short/Commodity Loan Is Not a Sham. 

The CFTC dislikes that at the end of a short (commodity loan) transaction 

there is a sale to “divest the investor of ownership.”  CFTC Br. 55 (quoting District 

Court, ER31 n.6).  The CFTC asserts that: (1) no delivery occurs; (2) shorting 

permits speculation, requiring CEA protections (id. 13, 50, 52), and thus, (3) short 

transactions “are simply futures trades by another name” (id. 53).  The CFTC again 

ignores that for the short, just like the long, Monex always delivers the metals to 

match every transaction and that the customer’s “speculative intent” is irrelevant to 

“actual delivery.”   

First, the CFTC cannot transform Monex’s “actual delivery” transactions 

into “book entry” transactions by repeatedly calling them so.  The incorporated 

AAA includes a “Passage of Title” section that discloses exactly how actual 

delivery occurs for: (1) commodities borrowed by customers who want to sell 

short, and (2) commodities returned by customers who want to close out a short 

position.  ER173 ¶7.  Actual metals, not just accounting entries, back each stage of 

the transaction. 

Second, the CFTC ignores that Monex disclosed to Congress during the 

2009 Hearing that: (1) it offers commodity loans to short the market (SER208), 

and (2) the CFTC had conducted two investigations of Monex’s Atlas program to 

CFTC doesn’t regulate spot transactions even if customers are speculating without 
intention of ultimately taking personal delivery).  
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confirm that it did not involve off-exchange futures and instead made physical 

delivery of metals (SER213).  The short transaction obviously gave no pause to 

either the Subcommittee, or its CFTC and NFA representatives, or to the CFTC 

over the prior decades.13

Third, the CFTC cannot challenge the District Court’s observation that there 

is no customer delivery risk in a commodity loan/short transaction since it is the 

customer, not Monex, who is obliged (upon borrowing a commodity to sell short) 

to return (deliver) the commodity in kind to Monex.  ER31 n.6. 

Fourth, the CFTC’s Interpretation not only permits fungible bulk delivery 

with title transfer, it recognizes how actual delivery can occur with title transfer 

where the dealer’s metals already exist in the depository.  78 Fed. Reg. at 52428-

29.  “[T]he Commission may determine that actual delivery has occurred if a 

commodity is delivered to an affiliate of the seller or is already physically located 

at a depository[.]”  Id. at 52427.  Again, the CFTC is attempting to jettison its 

Interpretation in favor of its post-Hunter Wise litigation-only position.  

13 The CFTC complains about the District Court’s reference to declaration and 
deposition testimony regarding the short.  CFTC Br. 57 & n.11 (citing ER31 n.6).  
However, the same information appears in documents incorporated by reference or 
judicially noticeable.  Compare ER119-20 ¶¶12-13 (Walker Decl.), and SER665-
66 (Carabini Tr.), with ER173 ¶7 (account agreement describing short 
transactions), SER208 (Feigin disclosing short transaction to Senate 
Subcommittee), and SER213 (disclosing prior CFTC investigations). 
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B. The District Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion in Dismissing 
Counts 1, 2, and 4 Without Leave to Amend. 

The CFTC’s new request on appeal to amend Counts 1, 2, and 4 comes “too 

late.”  Alaska v. United States, 201 F.3d 1154, 1163-64 (9th Cir. 2000).  But the 

District Court nevertheless properly dismissed these counts with prejudice because 

the CFTC does not, and cannot, dispute that Monex always delivers metals 

consistent with the CFTC’s unequivocal Interpretation, Example 2. 

The admissions of the CFTC’s Rule 30(b)(6) witness on actual delivery 

further prove the futility of any amendment.  See supra at 6-7. 

The CFTC’s “Hail Mary,” that it can allege Monex’s lender agreements 

“require[] that it never transfer possession or control of the metal,” is a red herring.  

See CFTC Br. 51 n.9.14  Monex’s lender arrangements have no legal relevance here 

because if Monex defaulted, its lenders could have no greater rights in customers’ 

metals than does Monex.  All incorporated documents recognize customers’ 

ownership of their metals.  A metals dealer, like any business, can always fail.  If 

Monex failed, and lenders stepped in, Monex customers would be entitled to their 

equity in financed metals.  The Actual Delivery Exception doesn’t turn on this 

normal enterprise risk of any business.  Indeed, if Monex failed within 28 days of a 

customer purchase, before it had a chance to make actual delivery, customers who 

14 This is not a “new” issue; it was raised and fully briefed in the preliminary 
injunction papers.  See Dkt. 7-1 at 16-19; Dkt. 166 at 19-20. 
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purchased during that window may be left with no equity.  But that did not stop 

Congress from excepting actual delivery transactions from the CEA.  The CFTC is 

again making up supposed sham factors unsupported by authority or common 

sense. 

C. The CFTC’s Ad Hoc Actual Delivery Definition Violates 
Defendants’ Due Process Rights. 

The CFTC’s new litigation-specific actual delivery standard violates 

Monex’s due process rights.  Grayned v. City of Rockford, 408 U.S. 104, 108 

(1972) (“laws [must] give the person of ordinary intelligence a reasonable 

opportunity to know what is prohibited”); Satellite Broad. Co. v. FCC, 824 F.2d 1, 

3 (D.C. Cir. 1987) (due process “preclude[s] an agency from penalizing a private 

party for violating a rule without first providing adequate notice of the substance of 

the rule”).  While the District Court did not reach this issue, this Court can affirm 

on “any ground supported by the record.”  Canyon County v. Syngenta Seeds, Inc., 

519 F.3d 969, 975 (9th Cir. 2008). 

Courts consistently vacate agency orders and dismiss complaints that are 

based on a “substantial change in [an] enforcement policy that was not reasonably 

communicated to the public.”  Upton v. SEC, 75 F.3d 92, 98 (2d Cir. 1996); see 

also United States v. Chrysler Corp., 158 F.3d 1350, 1355-56 (D.C. Cir. 1998) 

(due process violated because agency action conflicted with its own interpretation).  

Courts must “review[] the regulations and other public statements issued by the 
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agency” to determine whether “a regulated party acting in good faith would be able 

to identify, with ‘ascertainable certainty,’ the standards with which the agency 

expects parties to conform.”  Gen. Elec. Co. v. U.S. E.P.A., 53 F.3d 1324, 1329 

(D.C. Cir. 1995); see also Stoller v. CFTC, 834 F.2d 262, 265-67 (2d Cir. 1987) 

(“subtle and refined … construction without some appropriate notice” insufficient). 

The CFTC has never changed its Interpretation even though it claimed in 

Worth that “all of the rules have changed” after Hunter Wise.  The CFTC’s Worth

flip-flop is not adequate warning; courts generally require agencies to make major 

rule changes through rulemaking not via ad hoc litigation positions.  See, e.g., 

Gerstle v. Gamble-Skogmo, Inc., 478 F.2d 1281, 1294 & n.13 (2d Cir. 1973).  This 

is particularly true when, as in Worth, the CFTC lost its motion.  See, e.g., United 

States v. Hoyts Cinemas Corp., 256 F. Supp. 2d 73, 91 (D. Mass. 2003) (finding it 

“hard to consider the brief” in support of a motion that the government lost “as 

providing fair warning or ‘notice’”), vacated on other grounds, 380 F.3d 558 (1st 

Cir. 2004). 

Finally, after this enforcement action began, the CFTC issued a new 

December 2017 “proposed interpretation” of actual delivery for virtual currency 

transactions.  The CFTC claims that this further evidences its “possession and 
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control” standard.  CFTC Br. 47 n.8.15  But this admission only confirms a due 

process violation.  The proposed Interpretation debuts many of the same purported 

“sham” factors that the CFTC advances here, namely that a depository must have 

“entered into an agreement with the purchaser,” and that the virtual currency be 

free from “liens ... resulting from the use of margin, leverage, or financing.”  

SER314.  Even then, the changes purport only to apply to virtual currency 

transactions, while the Interpretation that applies to Monex remains unchanged. 

EEOC v. The Chicago Club, 86 F.3d 1423 (7th Cir. 1996), is instructive.  

That court questioned why the EEOC largely ignored its own prior interpretation 

exempting private clubs from its jurisdiction “in a case in which it is directly 

applicable.”  Id. at 1433.  “The simple fact is that if we were to endorse EEOC’s 

eviscerating interpretation of [the exclusion], no organization in the United States 

could meet the statutory definition of a bona fide private membership club.”  Id. at 

1425.  The court then asked the question proving the agency’s attempt to nullify 

the exclusion: “If the Chicago Club isn’t a private club, then what is?”  Id. at 1437. 

The CFTC, through its 30(b)(6) witness Deputy General Counsel Robert 

Schwartz, couldn’t answer the corresponding question here when it admitted that it 

15 The CFTC initially told the District Court that this proposed virtual currency 
Interpretation was relevant here, before recanting its claimed reliance.  Compare
SER405 (8:24-9:7), with SER427-428 (54:17-56:6) (noting it should “[p]robably 
not” be applied here because “[i]t’s a proposal and there are factual differences”).  
Apparently, the CFTC has now changed its position again on appeal. 
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can’t “point to one company” that makes “actual delivery” under the CFTC’s new 

post-Hunter Wise definition.  SER470-71 (108:22-109:15).  This further proves the 

CFTC’s agenda to re-write the Actual Delivery Exception so that it no longer 

applies to financed metals held as collateral at a depository, in defiance of 

Congress’ intent and its own Interpretation. 

II. The District Court Properly Dismissed Count 3 For Lack of 
Manipulation Allegations After the CFTC Stood On Its Complaint. 

The CFTC’s (now) lead CEA §6(c)(1) argument further reveals its effort to 

defy Congress.  The CFTC plucks the words: “any manipulative or deceptive 

device or contrivance” “in connection with … a contract for sale of a commodity, 

in interstate commerce” from §6(c)(1) out of context, and claims this language is 

an “unambiguous” exponential, virtually infinite, expansion of the CFTC’s 

jurisdiction to police ordinary sales fraud for every cash commodity transaction in 

the nation.  The CFTC tells the Court that it should stop with the supposed “plain 

language” of this one phrase, and ignore entirely the rest of the statute, its clear 

structure, history and all common sense. 

A. The CFTC’s §6(c)(1) Reading Leads to an Absurd Expansion of 
the CEA to Cover Ordinary Cash Commodity Sales. 

The CFTC’s jurisdictional grab is as breathtaking in scope as it is contrary to 

the CEA.  The CFTC’s mission is to prevent abusive practices “related to 
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derivatives and other products that are subject to the [CEA].”16  The CFTC’s 

jurisdiction is defined in and limited by CEA §2, 7 U.S.C. §2(a)(1), which is 

entitled “Jurisdiction of Commission,” and applies to transactions “involving 

swaps or contracts of sale of a commodity for future delivery.” 

The only context in which the CFTC exercised any jurisdiction over cash 

commodity transactions pre-Dodd-Frank was limited to its anti-manipulation 

authority.  That is because manipulation of cash markets and current prices 

necessarily disrupt and affect prices in futures markets over which the CFTC has 

jurisdiction.  See, e.g., 55 Fed. Reg. 39188, 39192 n.16 (Sept. 25, 1990) (noting 

cash transactions aren’t “wholly outside the reach of the [CEA] for all purposes” 

citing CEA proscription against manipulation), relied upon in final Actual Delivery 

Interpretation, 78 Fed. Reg. 52428 n.24.  For example, in CFTC v. Reed, the CFTC 

argued that under its anti-manipulation authority, it could exercise jurisdiction 

“over both futures contracts and certain conduct involving or affecting cash 

markets.”  481 F. Supp. 2d 1190, 1196 (D. Colo. 2007); see also CFTC v. Enron, 

2004 WL 594752 (S.D. Tex. Mar. 10, 2004) (exercising anti-manipulation 

jurisdiction over transactions in energy spot market); United States v. Energy 

Reliant Servs., Inc., 420 F. Supp. 2d 1043, 1061-62 (N.D. Cal. 2006) (certain CEA 

16 U.S. CFTC Mission & Responsibilities, www.cftc.gov/About/ 
MissionResponsibilities. 
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provisions “are concerned exclusively with transactions in futures contracts” but 

price manipulation provisions “are not so limited in scope”).  The CFTC’s sales 

fraud authority, untouched by Dodd-Frank, is found in CEA §4b, 7 U.S.C. §6b, 

and applies only to covered transactions (i.e., transactions regulated by the CFTC).  

The CFTC concedes that its anti-fraud jurisdiction under section CEA §4b is 

limited to covered transactions under CEA §2 (and thus, post-Dodd-Frank, §4b 

doesn’t cover actual delivery transactions). 

The CFTC’s anti-manipulation authority, by contrast, was (and still is) 

derived from §6(c), 7 U.S.C. §9, and can reach even cash market manipulation that 

threatens the CFTC’s regulated futures markets.  Pre-Dodd-Frank, §6(c) permitted 

the CFTC to suspend or revoke the registration for “any person (other than a 

regulated entity)” found to be: 

manipulating … the market price of any commodity, in interstate 
commerce, or for future delivery on or subject to the rules of any 
registered entity, or has willfully made any false or misleading 
statement of a material fact[.] 

7 U.S.C. §9 (Supp. 2010).  The CEA grants the CFTC this broad anti-manipulation 

authority, not because §6(c)(1) isn’t bound by §2’s jurisdictional limitations, as the 

CFTC now argues, but precisely because certain conduct in cash markets, 

including certain kinds of fraud, can disrupt and distort prices in regulated futures 

markets.   
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Dodd-Frank did not change this general CEA structure.  CEA §6(c)’s focus 

pre-Dodd-Frank closely parallels the post-Dodd-Frank language in §6(c)(1) (fraud-

based manipulation), §6(c)(2) (false information), and §6(c)(3) (price-based 

manipulation).  Yet the CFTC contends that with the placement of a single “or” 

Congress sub silencio gave the CFTC plenary authority and unprecedented sales 

fraud jurisdiction over all cash commodity sales.  This claim is as interminable as it 

is improbable.  Congress never designed the CEA for such a stretch.  

The context of Dodd-Frank and its §6(c)(1) amendments was the 2008 

collapse of financial markets based on fraudulently-manipulative schemes in 

derivatives and swaps.  See ER88-90 (Senator Cantwell).  The problem was that 

manipulation was too hard to prove — the CFTC was required to prove actual 

intent to manipulate even where the conduct underlying the manipulation was 

independently fraudulent.  See infra section II.G. 

Congress’ solution was to lower the CFTC’s civil liability burden of proof 

by adopting the SEC’s Rule 10b-5 “recklessness” scienter standard for fraud-based 

manipulations.  76 Fed. Reg. at 41404-05.  The language “deceptive or

manipulative device or contrivance” in §6(c)(1) is Congress’ recognition that the 

CFTC doesn’t have to show that a fraudulent (“deceptive”) actor specifically 

intended to cause manipulation.  It is enough if an actor, when employing any 

deceptive device, recklessly disregarded the manipulative impact or risk of his/her 
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actions.  See infra sections II.G, II.H.  It is these kinds of frauds, which are covered 

in §6(c)(1) and to which Rule 180.1 and its lower scienter standard applies. 

“Other Manipulation,” based on non-fraudulent conduct, is covered in 

§6(c)(3), 7 U.S.C. §9(3), which bears that very title.  These non-fraud based 

manipulations are covered instead by Rule 180.2 and still require proof of actual 

manipulative intent, so as to prevent lawful conduct without bad intent from being 

penalized even if it has manipulative impact.17 See infra section II.D.1. 

Congress did not, as the CFTC argues, silently give the CFTC new plenary 

anti-fraud authority over all cash commodity transactions that have no potential 

impact on national commodity or futures markets.18  To the contrary, Congress 

expressly excluded that CFTC authority for cash market “actual delivery” 

transactions under CEA §2 as part of the same Dodd-Frank amendments.  But the 

CFTC’s §6(c)(1) reading would give it anti-fraud jurisdiction over all commodity 

sales regardless of whether they involve futures, leverage or financing, including 

pure cash and carry sales such as sales of grains and potatoes at grocery stores or 

gold coins at pawn shops.  “[S]tatutory interpretations that lead to absurd results 

17 Criminal violations of these statutes still require specific intent regardless of 
whether fraud or non-fraud based.  7 U.S.C. §13(a)(2). 
18 The CFTC points to the latter portion of §6(c)(1), prohibiting misleading 
statements, as evidence that it’s authorized to police general sales fraud.  CFTC Br. 
27.  However, this language applies to cases involving the dissemination of 
fraudulent information to enable manipulation. 
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are to be avoided.”  Ma v. Ashcroft, 361 F.3d 553, 559 (9th Cir. 2004); see also

Saberi v. CFTC, 488 F.3d 1207, 1212 (9th Cir. 2007) (de novo review requires 

“rejecting those constructions that are contrary to clearly expressed congressional 

intent or that frustrate the policy that Congress sought to implement” (citations 

omitted)).  Courts require a clear Congressional statement of intent to institute such 

a fundamental jurisdictional enlargement; but instead all Congressional and CFTC 

pre-litigation statements are to the contrary.  See infra sections II.F, II.G. 

B. A Statute’s Plain Meaning Comes from the Statute as a Whole, 
Not From Piecemeal Reading as the CFTC Proposes. 

Just the single word “or” in one phrase of §6(c)(1) provides no basis for the 

CFTC’s plain meaning interpretation.  Courts instead read statutory provisions as a 

cohesive whole.  See Food & Drug Admin. v. Brown & Williamson Tobacco Corp., 

529 U.S. 120, 133 (2000); Commissioner of Internal Revenue v. Engle, 464 U.S. 

206, 223 (1984) (The “true meaning of a single section of a statute…, however 

precise its language, cannot be ascertained if it be considered apart from related 

sections” (citation omitted)).  In this context, the CFTC’s assertion is anything but 

plain. 

As the District Court noted, the statutory canon that “[t]erms connected by a 

disjunctive must ordinarily be given separate meanings” “is not steadfast.”  ER35 

(citing De Sylva v. Ballentine, 351 U.S. 570, 573 (1956)).  In Ballentine, the 

Supreme Court noted that “the word ‘or’ is often used as a careless substitute for 
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the word ‘and’; that is, it is often used in phrases where ‘and’ would express the 

thought with greater clarity.”  351 U.S. at 573.19  Given this potential ambiguity, 

the Court considered the statute holistically, and concluded that the term “and” 

more accurately captured Congress’ intent.  Id. at 573-74; see also United States v. 

Maris, 987 F. Supp. 865, 867 (D. Or. 1997) (construing unambiguous statutory 

provision permitting toll collection “for admission to the area or for the use of 

outdoor recreational sites” in the conjunctive based on consideration of the 

complete statutory scheme). 

In CFTC v. Kraft Foods Grp., Inc., 153 F. Supp. 3d 996 (N.D. Ill. 2015), the 

court rejected a similar CFTC attempt to expand its §6(c)(1) jurisdiction by reading 

“manipulative” and “deceptive” disjunctively.  Kraft, a manipulation case, rejected 

the CFTC’s literal disjunctive reading that §6(c)(1) covered manipulation absent 

deception, as leading to absurd results.  153 F. Supp. 3d at 1010.  The conclusion 

should be the same here where the CFTC argues the inverse — that §6(c)(1) covers 

deception without manipulative potential — since otherwise the CFTC’s sales 

fraud jurisdiction over cash commodities would be essentially limitless. 

19 See also Mizrahi v. Gonzales, 492 F.3d 156, 164 (2d Cir. 2007) (“we cannot 
conclude simply from the use of the word ‘or’ that Congress has directly spoken to 
the precise question at issue” (citations omitted)); United States v. Scrimgeour, 636 
F.2d 1019, 1024 (5th Cir. 1981) (rejecting disjunctive interpretation of “or” 
because the conjunctive “comports with accepted principles of statutory 
construction and is supported by the underlying congressional intent”). 
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The District Court thus correctly examined the entirety of the CEA, its 

structure, purpose and legislative history.  See ER35; see also Unification Church 

v. INS, 762 F.2d 1077, 1085-86 (D.C. Cir. 1985) (evaluating “legislative history to 

see whether reading the ‘or’ … in its usual disjunctive connotation would be 

demonstrably at odds with the will of Congress” after noting precedents warning 

that courts should “not rush to conclude that legislators always intend the word ‘or’ 

to be in the disjunctive”).20

C. The CFTC’s Interpretation Ignores the CEA’s Statutory Scheme. 

The CFTC ignores the CEA’s basic structure.  As this Court has explained, 

CEA §2 is labeled “Jurisdiction of Commission,” with other substantive provisions 

flowing from that jurisdictional grant.  White Pine, 574 F.3d at 1223-24.  The 

CFTC there brought an anti-fraud action against a foreign currency options trader 

claiming that it had jurisdiction under both §2 and a substantive prohibition 

contained in 7 U.S.C. §6c(b) prohibiting “fraud and misrepresentation in the 

solicitation or offering of options.”  Id. at 1223. The Court held that the CFTC 

lacked jurisdiction, stating that “all roads lead back to section 2 of the Act” and 

that other substantive provisions of the commodities laws “do not confer 

20 See also Pub. Citizen v. U.S. Dep’t of Justice, 491 U.S. 440, 455 (1989) 
(“Looking beyond the naked text for guidance is perfectly proper when the result it 
apparently decrees is difficult to fathom or where it seems inconsistent with 
Congress’ intention, since the plain-meaning rule is ‘rather an axiom of experience 
than a rule of law….’”). 
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jurisdiction on the CFTC by themselves.”  Id. at 1223, 1227.21  Thus, the CFTC’s 

jurisdiction comes from §2, not from §6(c)(1) by itself.  Id. at 1223.  It is only 

where cash market “devices and contrivances” can potentially disrupt the CFTC’s 

jurisdictional markets in §2 that the CFTC’s manipulation authority in §6(c)(1) 

comes into play.22

It makes no difference that White Pine was decided before Dodd-Frank.  

When Congress as part of the Dodd-Frank amendments (§741) overruled White 

Pine’s result of no jurisdiction over pooled foreign currency transactions, 

Congress’ legislative fix was to amend §2 to include CFTC jurisdiction over those 

transactions.  ER98.  And §2 is still entitled “Jurisdiction of Commission.” 

D. The CFTC’s Reading Would Nullify Contemporaneous 
Amendments to, and Render Superfluous Portions of, the Same 
Statute. 

Congress with Dodd-Frank amended not just §6(c)(1), but also reformatted 

much of §6(c), as well as portions of §2.  When statutory provisions are “enacted at 

the same time and form part of the same Act, the duty to harmonize them is 

21 This Court also held that §13a-1, which provides that courts “shall have 
jurisdiction to entertain” actions seeking to enjoin violations of the commodities 
laws, is not a jurisdictional grant, but statement of available relief.  574 F.3d at 
1223 & n.3. 
22 White Pine also noted that Commission regulations (such as Rule 180.1 invoked 
here) are irrelevant without independent jurisdiction: “regulations, of course, 
cannot go beyond the jurisdictional limits of the statute.”  574 F.3d at 1223. 
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particularly acute.”  US W. Commc’ns, Inc. v. Hamilton, 224 F.3d 1049, 1053 (9th 

Cir. 2000).

1. The CFTC’s Reading Renders §6(c)(3) Superfluous. 

The CFTC’s reading would render wholly duplicative the “Other

Manipulation” provision in §6(c)(3) (emphasis added).  If §6(c)(1) independently 

covers both all ordinary sales fraud (with the word “deceptive”) and manipulation 

(instead of just fraud-based manipulation), there would, as the District Court noted, 

be no need for §6(c)(3), which also covers manipulation but without the word 

“deceptive.”  ER36-37.  

The CFTC first misdirects the Court by arguing that because §6(c)(3) does 

not address fraud, it “cannot render Section 6(c)(1)’s anti-fraud language 

superfluous.”  CFTC Br. 39.  Nobody said the CFTC’s reading renders §6(c)(1)

superfluous; the District Court wrote precisely the opposite:  it renders §6(c)(3)

superfluous.  ER37. 

The CFTC next argues there is nothing wrong with “overlap” of its anti-

manipulation authority in the two sections.  CFTC Br. 38-39.  The problem is 

nullification, not overlap.  Section 6(c)(3) serves no purpose if both stand-alone 

fraud and manipulation in all forms were already covered in §6(c)(1).  See Colautti 

v. Franklin, 439 U.S. 379, 392 (1979) (“a statute should be interpreted so as not to 

render one part inoperative”); Kungys v. United States, 485 U.S. 759, 778 (1988) 
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(Scalia, J., plurality opinion) (it is a “cardinal rule of statutory interpretation that no 

provision should be construed to be entirely redundant”).   

Moreover, the sections do not actually “overlap” as the CFTC now asserts.  

As the CFTC recognized in its own rulemaking, Section 6(c)(1) (which refers to 

“deceptive”) covers fraud-based manipulation with its lower 10b-5 recklessness 

intent standard, whereas §6(c)(3) (without reference to “deceptive”) covers non-

fraud based manipulation, which still requires proof of specific manipulative 

intent.  See 76 Fed. Reg. at 41400, 41409 (“Rule 180.1 prohibits fraud and fraud-

based manipulations” with “potential to affect cash commodities, futures, or swaps 

markets”), 41407 (Rule 180.2 “covers non-fraud based manipulation”). 

It was the CFTC’s “overlap” argument that the Kraft court rejected when the 

CFTC subsequently argued it could prosecute even non-fraud based manipulation 

under §6(c)(1) because of that section’s disjunctive language.  Kraft noted that the 

CFTC treats §6(c)(3), as well as the related criminal provision in §9(a)(2), as 

distinct, not as overlapping.  153 F. Supp. 3d at 1007, 1010 n.4; see also 76 Fed. 

Reg. at 41399, 41407-08 (recklessness standard does not apply to “non-fraud based 

manipulation” under §6(c)(3) and Rule 180.2); Phillip McBride Johnson et al., 

Derivatives Regulations §5.05[3], at 341 (2018 Supp.). 

The CFTC’s regulatory distinction between fraud-based manipulation in 

§6(c)(1) and non-fraud based manipulation in §6(c)(3) undermines its current 
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“plain meaning” construction.  It now reads the word “or” between “deceptive” 

and “manipulative” in §6(c)(1) to give it authority over both ordinary deceit 

without manipulative potential and manipulation.  But if the word “manipulative” 

is thus read alone, that same word appears both in §6(c)(1) and §6(c)(3).  Yet, the 

CFTC’s regulations treat “manipulative” as covering different conduct in the two 

provisions.  Normally, the same term used in related provisions must be construed 

consistently.  Mohasco Corp. v. Silver, 447 U.S. 807, 826 (1980).  This further 

evidences that the word “deceptive” relates to the word “manipulative” in §6(c)(1) 

so as to cover frauds with manipulative potential, whereas the word “manipulative” 

alone in §6(c)(3) covers “other,” i.e. non-fraud based manipulation, consistent with 

the CFTC’s regulatory statements. 

2. The CFTC’s Reading Also Nullifies the Actual Delivery 
Exception and §4b. 

Congress would not exempt from the Commission’s broad CEA §4b anti-

fraud jurisdiction retail financed transactions with 28-day delivery, while in the 

same Dodd-Frank amendments allow the CFTC to circumvent that exemption by 

asserting wholly duplicative fraud claims under §6(c)(1).  The point of the Actual 

Delivery Exception was to preserve the jurisdictional exemption that Monex and 

similar Model Code-compliant firms enjoyed pre-Dodd-Frank.  The CFTC’s 

reading would nullify and make superfluous §2(c)(2)(D)(iii)’s exception’s specific 

application to §4b, and should be rejected.  It’s even more implausible that 
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Congress would nullify a simultaneously enacted section by silently overturning 

decades of regulatory history and authorities excluding cash commodities from 

CFTC jurisdiction, and by extending CFTC jurisdiction to all retail cash 

commodity transactions, whether financed or not.  The CFTC’s violence to the 

fundamental structure of CEA and its history, explains why the CFTC must push 

its meritless no actual delivery arguments on appeal.   

The CFTC’s interpretation goes beyond nullifying the contemporaneous 

Actual Delivery Exception.  It renders superfluous the entire anti-fraud provisions 

of CEA §4b which have long been the CFTC’s anti-fraud tool.  If §6(c)(1) covered 

routine sales fraud for all interstate cash commodity sales, the CFTC could not 

only police transactions expressly exempted by §2, it could ignore §4b’s fraud 

provisions entirely even as to transactions expressly covered by §2.  The CFTC 

would be unbound by §4b’s fraud provisions, and longstanding §4b case law, if 

§6(a)(1) gave it plenary sales fraud jurisdiction over all commodity transactions, 

covered or not by the CEA.   

The CFTC’s reading thus also violates the statutory maxim that specific 

statutory provisions, such as application of the precise §2(c) exemption to sales 

fraud under §4b, control the more general §6(c)(1), and not the other way around.  
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“Where there is no clear intention otherwise, a specific statute will not be 

controlled or nullified by a general one, regardless of the priority of enactment.”23

The CFTC’s only response is that its interpretation would just partially 

nullify the CEA.  CFTC Br. 38 (arguing that persons covered by CEA §2 also have 

registration and reporting requirements in §§4(a) and 4(b)).  The CFTC thus claims 

that the Actual Delivery Exception precludes merely its “regulatory” jurisdiction 

under CEA §§4(a) and 4(b) (7 U.S.C. §§6(a) & 6(b)), and that it still has 

“enforcement” jurisdiction under other CEA provisions such as §6(c)(1).   

The CFTC has it backwards:  section 2(c)(2)(D)(iii), entitled “Enforcement,” 

grants the CFTC expressly enumerated and limited enforcement powers (those in 7 

U.S.C. §§6(a), 6(b) and 6b) over retail commodity transactions that fail to qualify 

for the Actual Delivery Exception.  7 U.S.C. §2(c)(2)(D)(iii).  It states that such 

non-exempted transactions will then be treated “as if” futures contracts for CFTC 

“enforcement” of those specific CEA provisions.  Id.  It nowhere states or implies 

that the CFTC has enforcement authority under other CEA provisions for retail 

commodity transactions that are not treated “as if” futures contracts.  Nor does the 

CFTC answer the larger question of why Congress would nullify, or render 

23 Radzanower v. Touche Ross & Co., 426 U.S. 148, 153 (1976) ; see also Am. 
Fed’n of Gov’t Emps., Local 2782 v. FLRA, 702 F.2d 1183, 1187 (D.C. Cir. 1983) 
(courts should reject agency interpretations that deprive a statutory provision of 
virtually all effect absent “legislative history of exceptional clarity”).
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superfluous, any portions of the CEA, when Congress specifically excepted actual 

delivery transactions from CEA fraud jurisdiction while noting that Monex wouldn’t 

have “to fool with” the CFTC.  SER221. 

Indeed, if Congress had meant what the CFTC now argues, it would have 

done so explicitly as it did in a similar, immediately preceding section applicable 

to leveraged, margined or financed currency transactions.  Congress stated, similar 

to the Actual Delivery Exception, that such transactions are covered for specified 

purposes, unless they result in “actual delivery,” within 2 days.  7 U.S.C. 

§§2(c)(2)(C)(i)(I)(bb) & (II)(bb)(AA).  It then stated that transactions not resulting 

in actual delivery will be treated “as if” future contracts for purposes of 7 U.S.C. 

§§6(b) and 6b (CEA §§4(b) and 4b).  Id. §2(c)(2)(C)(iv).  But then, unlike with the 

similar language in the Actual Delivery Exception, Congress also stated: “This 

subparagraph shall not be construed to limit any jurisdiction that the Commission 

may otherwise have under any other provision of this chapter [i.e, the CEA] over 

an agreement, contract, or transaction that is a contract of sale of a commodity for 

future delivery.”  Id. §2(c)(2)(C)(v).  No similar savings language appears in the 

Actual Delivery Exception.  Even this language suggests only possible additional 

coverage for “future delivery” contracts, not for “actual delivery” contracts that are 

instead excepted as resembling cash sales. 
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E. Significant Differences in CEA §§4b and 6(c)(1) Prove They 
Address Different Conduct. 

Comparing the structure and language of §§4b and 6(c)(1) further 

demonstrates that the statutory provisions address different, not the same, conduct.  

Prior to Dodd-Frank, the CEA already addressed sales practice fraud in §4b, 

entitled “Contracts designed to defraud or mislead,” which Dodd-Frank made 

applicable to financed retail transactions not resulting in actual delivery.  Section 

4b makes it unlawful inter alia “to cheat or defraud” any “person” in regulated 

“contracts.”  7 U.S.C. §6b(a)(2)(A), (C).  It thus focuses on sales fraud directed at 

customers in relation to individual contracts, i.e., sales practice fraud. 

Dodd-Frank §753, which amended CEA §6(c), by contrast was entitled 

“Anti-Manipulation Authority,” and five of the statute’s next eight subheadings 

mention “manipulation.”  As noted, §6(c), even prior to Dodd-Frank, addressed 

market manipulation of exempted cash products that could impact regulated 

markets.  Supra section II.A.  Amended §6(c) is expressly called “Prohibition 

regarding manipulation and false information.”  Section 6(c)(1), at issue here, is 

entitled “Prohibition Against Manipulation,” and the following §6(c)(2), not at 

issue here, is called “Prohibition Against False Information.”  While §4b addresses 

“cheating” customers in individual “contracts,” in contrast §6(c) generally, and 

§6(c)(1) particularly, talks in broader market-type terms of deceptive or 

manipulative “devices or contrivances.”  And Congress expressly prohibited the 
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CFTC from requiring market participants to disclose nonpublic information 

“material to the market price, rate, or level of the commodity transaction.”  7 

U.S.C. §9(1) (emphasis added).  This is the language of fraudulent manipulation, 

not of sales practice fraud.   

Monex is not using these statutory headings and phrases to negate the plain 

meaning of the statute, as the CFTC complains, CFTC Br. 35, because plain 

meaning requires more than focusing on a single phrase.  Rather, these very clear 

differences provide yet another tool to read the statute harmoniously as a whole.  

See INS v. Nat’l Ctr. for Immigrants’ Rights, Inc., 502 U.S. 183, 189 (1991) 

(“[T]he title of a statute or section can aid in resolving an ambiguity in the 

legislation’s text.”).  

F. That Congress Mentions Only “Manipulation” in the Private 
Right of Action Section Proves Monex’s Point.  

The CFTC argues that Congress more clearly limited coverage to 

manipulation when it wanted to, pointing to contemporaneous amendment of CEA 

§22’s private rights of action provision to cover “any manipulative,” but not 

deceptive, “device or contrivance.”  CFTC Br. 27-28 (quoting 7 U.S.C. 

§25(a)(1)(D)(i)).  Monex agrees that these amendments occurred 

contemporaneously with the §6(c)(1) amendments, but a comparison of the two 

sections further disproves the CFTC’s §6(c)(1) argument.  
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CEA §22 provides a private right of action against “[a]ny person … who 

violates this chapter,” (the CEA), and makes that person “liable for actual damages 

resulting from one or more of the [specified] transactions.”  7 U.S.C. §25.  Private 

persons can bring §4b fraud claims arising out of transactions covered in §2 (e.g., 

retail commodity transactions that do not comply with the Actual Delivery 

Exception) because they are violations of the CEA and are enumerated transactions 

in §22(a)(1)(B).  They may also bring §6(c)(1) manipulation claims under 

§22(a)(1)(D)(1), which covers “any manipulative device or contrivance in 

contravention of such rules and regulations as the Commission shall promulgate” for 

contracts of sale referred to in subsection (a)(1)(B) (i.e., swaps or futures).  7 

U.S.C. §25(a)(1)(D)(1).  Private persons may not, however, bring non-

manipulation sales fraud claims involving actual delivery cash commodities 

because such sales are not covered by the CEA, nor are they enumerated 

transactions under §22(a)(1)(B) because they are not futures or swap transactions.  

Congress sensibly provided no §22 private right of action for conduct — cash 

commodity sales fraud — outside the CEA.  

The CFTC’s contrary interpretation — that §6(c)(1) covers routine fraud in 

all cash commodity transactions but that there is no corresponding private right of 

action for those violations in §22 — is illogical.  The CFTC assumes that Congress 

purposefully withheld a §22 private right for its purported §6(c)(1) sales fraud 
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violation, even though Congress granted a §22 private right for §6(c)(1) 

manipulation-based violations and §4b sales fraud violations.  Nothing suggests 

that Congress would single out supposed sales fraud violations of §6(c)(1) for no

§22 private right of action, even though, according to the CFTC, they are 

violations of “this chapter.”  A more reasonable interpretation is that Congress 

successfully mirrored §6(c)(1) coverage in §22, which Congress intended only to 

extend to fraud-based manipulation, with its amended lower proof standards, and 

not to ordinary sales fraud which §22 already addressed for covered transactions. 

G. Contemporary Congressional Statements Confirm That Section 
6(c)(1) Is Limited To Frauds with Manipulative Potential. 

The legislative record further proves that Congress intended with §6(c)(1) 

only to augment the CFTC’s existing manipulation authority, not to rewrite the 

CEA to give the CFTC plenary fraud jurisdiction over all cash commodity sales.  

Even if the CFTC’s plain text reading were correct, and it is not, it could never 

overcome this irrefutable fact.  Carson Harbor Village, Ltd. v. Unocal Corp., 270 

F.3d 863, 877 (9th Cir. 2001) (“We will resort to legislative history, even where 

the plain language is unambiguous, where the legislative history clearly indicates 

that Congress meant something other than what it said.” (citations omitted)). 

Prior to Dodd-Frank, the CEA already prohibited knowingly “manipulating 

or attempting to manipulate … the market price of any commodity, in interstate 

commerce[.]”  7 U.S.C. §9(3).  But this provision required proof of specific intent 
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to manipulate, making CFTC enforcement all but impossible.  SER328-29 (CFTC 

Chairman Gensler); SER273 (Senator Cantwell introducing §753); ER88 (same). 

Congress’ purpose in CEA §6(c)(1) was to protect “the integrity of markets,” 

not to address retail consumer fraud.  SER273.  The §6(c)(1) amendments and the 

Commission’s Rule 180.1 were thus meant only to “augment the Commission’s 

existing authority to prohibit fraud and manipulation.”  76 Fed. Reg. at 41401 

(emphasis added).  This augmentation was necessary since, as the provision’s 

sponsor Senator Cantwell pointed out, “In the 35 years of its history, the CFTC has 

only successfully prosecuted one single case of manipulation.”  SER273.  With the 

§6(c) amendments, Congress permitted a general civil manipulation or recklessness 

standard for fraud-based manipulation under §6(c) (the same standard as under SEC 

Rule 10b-5) as an alternative to the criminal manipulation scienter element under 

CEA §9(a)(2).  76 Fed. Reg. at 41401, 41404; 17 C.F.R. §180.1.24

No legislative history supports the CFTC’s argument that Congress 

intended, by incorporating 10b-5 manipulation scienter standards into §6(c)(1), to 

24 As Senator Cantwell, described: “when bad actors like Enron … manipulate 
commodities prices, it means that Americans pay more for commodities like oil, …  
and natural gas.  Unfortunately, current law does not protect our economy with a 
tough enough standard to prevent, deter, and enforce illegal market manipulation in 
critical commodity futures markets.”  ER88.  Congress borrowed from the SEC’s 
anti-manipulation doctrine to catch “only those who attempt to affect the market or 
prices by artificial means unrelated to the natural forces of supply and demand.”  Id. 
(emphasis added); see also SER273 (Senator Cantwell, introducing §753 in 2010 
using same language regarding limits on SEC anti-manipulation authority). 
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radically expand CFTC jurisdiction over ordinary sales fraud in all cash 

commodity sales.  In a floor speech, Senator Lincoln explained that Dodd-Frank 

§753 is a “new anti-manipulation provision … addressing fraud-based

manipulation, including manipulation by false reporting.”  ER98.  “Importantly, 

this new enforcement authority … supplements, and does not supplant, its existing 

anti-manipulation authority[.]”  Id.; see also ER88 (Senator Cantwell noting the 

amendment gives “the CFTC the same anti-manipulation standard currently 

employed by the SEC,” meaning the “recklessness” standard that courts use under 

SEC §10(b)); SER273 (noting it was important to have a strong “law on the books 

against manipulation.”); id. (“I hope my colleagues will support this strong 

antimanipulation standard being inserted into the Commodity Exchange Act.”).   

Underlining this Congressional focus, Senator Cantwell noted that the 

Energy Policy Act granted the “same anti-manipulation authority to [FERC] … as 

a result of the Enron market manipulation….”  Id.; see infra section II.I 

(addressing FERC’s anti-manipulation authority). 

That Congress imported SEC 10b-5 scienter standards and scienter law for 

manipulation enforcement does not mean, as the CFTC argues, that it imported the 

whole of 10b-5 law for all purposes so as to enlarge the CFTC’s jurisdiction 

beyond recognition.  To push its jurisdictional creation, the CFTC ignores 

fundamental differences between the SEC and the CFTC, and between securities 
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and commodities markets.  The CFTC first ignores the obvious coverage 

differences between the CEA and the Securities and Exchange Act that created the 

SEC.  While the SEC has historically had broad jurisdiction over all securities, the 

CFTC has more limited jurisdiction over commodity futures contracts, not over 

commodities generally or cash sales.  The CFTC also ignores fundamental 

differences between the markets that the different agencies regulate.  In efficient 

securities markets, false statements (fraud) are generally presumed to have an 

impact on prices for the entire market.  See generally Basic, Inc. v. Levinson, 485 

U.S. 224 (1988) (adopting “fraud-on-the-market” theory).  Ordinary sales fraud in 

commodity markets (a misrepresentation or omission to a customer buying bars of 

gold) has no such presumed or actual market-wide impact, and therefore is 

irrelevant to a participant’s manipulation capability.  Indeed, while security 

markets operate in a full-disclosure regime, commodity markets do not.  

Commodity traders are generally permitted to use their own inside information for 

their own profit.  76 Fed. Reg. at 41403; Mot. to Take Judicial Not. (“MJN”), 

Ex. A 96:19-97:21.  The CFTC points to no policy, logic or legislative history 

suggesting, let alone stating, that Congress, by adopting 10b-5’s scienter for fraud-

based manipulations, intended to import all of 10b-5 and related case law, much of 

which could not possibly apply to the CEA, so as to radically expand CFTC 

jurisdiction.  
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Equally important as what Congress did say with the §6(c) amendments is 

what Congress did not say: i.e., that it was interminably expanding CFTC fraud 

jurisdiction to cover all cash commodity sales in the nation.  Such an explosive 

increase of an agency’s historically limited authority would require clear 

Congressional statements,25 in contrast to the CFTC’s notion of Congress 

expanding agency jurisdiction through wished-for subtexts.26

H. The CFTC’s Contemporaneous Statements Disavowed The Broad 
§6(c)(1) Fraud Jurisdiction It Now Claims. 

Importantly, the CFTC itself recognized these limitations during its public 

rulemaking proceedings to implement its augmented manipulation authority in 

CEA §6(c).27  Before issuing its Rule 180.1 Interpretation, CFTC Commissioners 

questioned CFTC Counsel Mark Higgins regarding the scope of §6(c)(1)’s anti-

fraud provision.  He explained that §6(c)(1) augments the CFTC’s authority by 

permitting the CFTC to prosecute “market manipulation by fraud” without needing 

25 Brown & Williamson, 529 U.S. at 160 (“We are confident that Congress could 
not have intended to delegate a decision of such economic and political 
significance to an agency in so cryptic a fashion”). 
26 Whitman v. Am. Trucking Ass’ns, 531 U.S. 457, 468 (2001) (“Congress, we have 
held, does not alter the fundamental details of a regulatory scheme in vague terms 
or ancillary provisions — it does not, one might say, hide elephants in 
mouseholes.”). 
27 Tellingly, the CFTC itself never mentioned §6(c)(1) as an independent 
jurisdictional grant when it commented to the public six-months later concerning 
its Dodd-Frank §2(c)(2)(D) jurisdictional authority over retail commodity 
transactions.  76 Fed. Reg. at 77671 n.7. 
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to prove specific intent to manipulate market prices (price-based manipulation), as 

previously required.  MJN Ex. A 101:7-102:5.  In other words, if one committed 

fraud for some purpose other than to manipulate markets, but with reckless 

disregard of its potential market impact, then new §6(c)(1) would apply.  Id.; see 

also id. 98:7-11.  Higgins thus defined “fraud” as a “term of art” that differs from 

the common law definition: “Here, fraud in the preamble we propose to mean any 

conduct that impairs, obstructs, or defeats a well-functioning market or the 

integrity of the market.”  Id. 109:2-5 (emphasis added).  Moreover, he twice 

confirmed that fraud under §6(c)(1) had to be in connection with a “jurisdictional 

product.”  Id. 101:3-5, 111:22-112:3-17 (paraphrasing the Supreme Court’s 

interpretation of the scope of SEC §10(b)’s “in connection with” language in SEC 

v. Zanford, 535 U.S. 813 (2002): “So long as the fraud coincides with the SEC 

jurisdictional transaction, there is that sufficient nexus[.]”). 

Then, in its July 14, 2011 Final Interpretation on the scope of §6(c), the 

CFTC expressly rejected as “misplaced” any concerns that the use of the term 

“commodity” in Rule 180.1 would apply “to virtually every commercial 

transaction in the economy.”  76 Fed. Reg. at 41401.  It assured market participants 

that it still: 

expects to exercise its authority under §6(c)(1) to cover transactions 
related to the futures or swaps markets, or prices of commodities in 
interstate commerce, or where the fraud or manipulation has the 
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potential to affect cash commodity, futures, or swaps markets or 
participants in these markets. 

Id. (emphasis added).  The Commission also referred to subsection G of its 

Interpretation, which clarified that “in connection with” means in connection with 

futures contracts.  Id. at 41405-06.  The CFTC’s litigation assertion — that these 

statements reflect only the CFTC’s enforcement “intent,” and not the scope of its 

authority — is belied by its Interpretation: 

As to the concerns [expressed in public comments] regarding 
increased costs from the Commission’s purported expansion of its 
authority to cover a plethora of routine cash market transactions in all 
areas of the economy, with respect to the scope of final Rule 180.1 … 
the Commission intends to exercise its authority under 6(c)(1) to 
cover transactions related to the futures or swaps markets, or prices of 
commodities in interstate commerce, or where the fraud or 
manipulation has the potential to affect cash commodities, futures, or 
swaps markets or participants in these markets. Thus, concerns about 
purported increased costs are misplaced in that they rest on an 
incorrect assumption about the scope of the Commission’s expanded 
authority.

Id. at 41409 (emphasis added).  Thus, the CFTC made clear that its enforcement 

“intent” derived from its understanding concerning “the scope” of its authority. 

The CFTC’s misinterpretation here also ignores CFTC Director of 

Enforcement David Meister’s contemporaneous presentation to the Commissioners 

leading to adoption of Rule 180.1, a presentation that focused on fraudulent market 

manipulation and didn’t discuss ordinary sales fraud.  See, e.g., SER322-23 & 

SER340 (Meister), SER328-29 (Chairman Gensler).  Indeed, Meister could not 
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think of a hypothetical that “suggested a distinction or difference between fraud 

and fraud based manipulation.”28  SER340.  If §6(c)(1) and Rule 180.1 were meant 

to cover routine sales misrepresentations, instead of frauds that recklessly impact 

market prices, those hypotheticals would abound.29

Thus, the CFTC assured the public that the Rule addresses fraud-based 

manipulation, not sales fraud.  The Rule itself is entitled “Prohibition on the 

employment, or attempted employment, of manipulative and deceptive devices.”  

7 C.F.R. §180.1 (emphasis added).  The Rule’s bookends in sections (a)(1) and (4) 

clearly apply only to manipulation.  While the intermediary provisions in (a)(2) 

and (3) could be read more broadly, they must be construed in relation to the 

statute and Rule as a whole, including the CFTC’s own public assurances, to mean 

fraud with manipulative potential.  And no agency rule can go beyond what the 

statute intended.  White Pine, 574 F.3d at 1223. 

28 Similarly, in 2010, Higgins was only able to identify fraud-based manipulation 
claims as a type of case that the CFTC could bring under §6(c)(1) that it couldn’t 
bring under its prior anti-manipulation authority.  MJN Ex. A 101:7-102:5. 
29 The CFTC did append a footnote using fraudulent metals dealers as an example 
to the text explaining that the Rule was focused on frauds that have the potential to 
affect prices.  See 78 Fed. Reg. at 41401 & n.37.  The clear import was that only 
fraudulent practices that could qualitatively or quantitatively disrupt markets are 
covered.  The CFTC was investigating such a manipulative scheme in the silver 
markets at the time Higgins made his 2010 presentation.  MJN Ex. A at 12:6-
14:16. Although the CFTC waived any manipulation theory by standing on 
Count 3 without amendment, it now belatedly makes that argument: that the 
“scale” of “[t]his case plainly qualifies” as one “that may negatively impact cash 
commodity markets and participants.” CFTC Br. 42. 
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The CFTC is thus entitled to no Chevron deference.  Even accepting the 

CFTC’s “plain reading” spin of §6(c)(1), the CFTC’s position would violate 

Congressional intent.  See Griffin v. Oceanic Contractors, Inc., 458 U.S. 564, 571 

(1982) (if literal application of a statute will produce a result demonstrably at odds 

with the intentions of its drafters, those intentions must be controlling); Chevron 

U.S.A., Inc. v. Nat. Res. Defense Council, Inc., 467 U.S. 837, 843 n.9 (1984).30

This is especially true here, where the CFTC announcement contradicts its 

litigation position.  See Cardoza-Fonseca, 480 U.S. at 446 n.30 (“An agency 

interpretation of a relevant provision which conflicts with the agency’s earlier 

interpretation is entitled to considerably less deference than a consistently held 

agency view.” (internal quotations omitted));  Am. Precious Metals, 845 F. Supp. 

2d at 1287. 

I. Amendments to FERC’s Parallel Anti-Manipulation Authority 
Confirm Monex’s Interpretation. 

Before Dodd-Frank, Congress granted anti-manipulation authority to FERC 

that was also modeled on SEC 10b-5.  The CFTC points to these regulations as 

support for its interpretation that §6(c)(1) covers fraud absent manipulative 

potential.  CFTC Br. 41.  But FERC’s interpretation of its parallel authority in the 

Energy Policy Act further supports Monex.   

30 See also King v. Burwell, 135 S. Ct. 2480, 2495 (2015) (no Chevron deference 
where interpretation inconsistent with Congressional intent with deep political 
implications). 
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FERC sensibly interpreted its authority over “any manipulative or deceptive 

device or contrivance,” 15 U.S.C. §717c-1, as requiring a jurisdictional nexus: 

Had Congress intended to expand the Commission’s jurisdiction so 
significantly as to give it anti-manipulation authority over such 
transactions as first sales of imported natural gas, intrastate sales of 
electric energy, retail sales of electric energy or energy sales by 
governmental entities, we believe it would have done so explicitly. 

71 Fed. Reg. 4244, 4248 (¶20) (Jan. 26, 2006).  FERC thus clarified that an entity 

is subject to the Commission’s authority only if the: 

entity engages in manipulation and the conduct is found to be “in 
connection with” a jurisdictional transaction…. Absent such nexus to 
a jurisdictional transaction, however, fraud and manipulation in a non-
jurisdictional transaction (such as a first or retail sale) is not subject to 
the new regulations.

Id. at 4247-48 (¶16); see also id. at 4249 (¶22) (“the entity must have intended to 

affect, or have acted recklessly to affect, a jurisdictional transaction”). 

Thus, while FERC included general “catch all” anti-fraud language in its 

final regulation and declined requests to limit its authority solely to actual 

manipulation, it emphasized that it is only fraud affecting the energy market and 

jurisdictional products that is implicated.  Id. (¶25) (FERC will “police all forms of 

fraud and manipulation that affect natural gas and electric energy transactions and 

activities the Commission is charged with protecting”).  The CFTC’s claim that it 

can regulate ordinary sales fraud disconnected from its jurisdictional products and 

markets finds no support in FERC’s regulations. 
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J. The CFTC’s Cited §6(c)(1) Cases Are Inapposite. 

The CFTC string cites three cases which supposedly give it sales fraud 

jurisdiction over Monex via §6(c)(1).  See CFTC Br. 22 n.6, 45.  Each of those 

cases involved no “actual delivery.”  Those courts thus addressed transactions 

deemed to be futures contracts squarely within CFTC jurisdiction; they did not 

address whether §6(c)(1) could apply to cash transactions not covered by the CEA, 

let alone nullify an express §2 exception.  In CFTC v. Southern Trust Metals, Inc., 

894 F.3d 1313 (11th Cir. 2018), the court simply assumed without analysis that 

§6(c)(1)’s reach coexisted with §4b’s, but that issue was not before the court 

because without actual delivery §4b clearly applied.  Id. at 1325-26.  Indeed, 

defendant there nowhere argued that §6(c)(1) could not apply if there was “actual 

delivery.”  Br. for Appellants, CFTC v. S. Trust Metals, Inc., 2017 WL 835125, at 

*37-40 (11th Cir. Jan. 4. 2017).  The district court in Hunter Wise similarly 

assumed without explanation that §6(c)(1) applied to the frauds at issue, but it had 

already found liability under §4b for lack of actual delivery.  CFTC v. Hunter Wise 

Commodities, LLC, 21 F. Supp. 3d 1317, 1346-48 (S.D. Fla. 2014).  In the 

Eleventh Circuit opinion, the court expressly declined to consider whether §6(c)(1) 

gave the CFTC an “independent” jurisdictional basis since the CFTC already had 

jurisdiction for lack of actual delivery under §2(c)(2)(D).  Hunter Wise, 749 F.3d at 

981. 
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Only one of the CFTC’s cases confronted directly the scope of §6(c)(1), and 

it did so only in the context of no actual delivery virtual currency transactions.  

CFTC v. McDonnell, 287 F. Supp. 3d 213 (E.D.N.Y. 2018) and 2018 WL 4090784 

(E.D.N.Y. Aug. 28, 2018).  Importantly, the McDonnell defendant was pro se and 

the CFTC neglected to present the court with the relevant legislative and regulatory 

history.  See SER106-08. 

The CFTC will likely point to CFTC v. My Big Coin Pay, Inc., 2018 WL 

4621727 (D. Mass. Sept. 26, 2018), another virtual currency case decided after this 

appeal.  Again, there were no claims of actual delivery, the court addressed the 

provision’s legislative history in cursory fashion, and didn’t address the statutory 

or regulatory context of §6(c)(1).  Id. at *5. 

Finally, the CFTC cites the Illinois district court’s decision in the Parties’ 

prior subpoena enforcement action, despite that court having explicitly stated that 

it “need not consider the matter of whether the CFTC independently has authority 

to investigate Monex under Section 6 of the Act.”  CFTC v. Monex Deposit Co., 

2014 WL 7213190, at *9 (N.D. Ill. Dec. 17, 2014).  The Seventh Circuit never 

mentioned §6(c)(1).  Monex, 824 F.3d 690 (7th Cir. 2016). 

The issue presented here — whether Congress intended with §6(c)(1) to 

grant the CFTC ordinary sales fraud jurisdiction over all cash commodity sales in 

the nation, including those expressly excepted in §2 as part of the same Dodd-
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Frank amendments — is an issue of first impression.  To ask the question, we 

submit, is to answer it.   

K. The CFTC Cannot Salvage its §6(c)(1) Claim by Suggesting that 
Monex Threatens a “Big” Fraud. 

Pervading its brief is the CFTC’s strawman about Monex’s allegedly large 

and far-reaching fraud, which is as untrue as it is irrelevant to the jurisdictional 

issues.  CFTC Br. 1, 6-9, 44-45. 

The CFTC waived its newly concocted appeal theory, that the alleged fraud 

does have the potential to impact commodity markets (id. 42), when it stood on 

Count 3 and asked the District Court to enter final judgment.  Lacey v. Maricopa 

Cnty., 693 F.3d 896, 928 (9th Cir. 2012); ER13-20.  

If the CFTC is asking the Court to trust its prosecutorial discretion to go 

after only “big” frauds, the CFTC only has prosecutorial discretion where it has 

jurisdiction.  Courts do not allow overbroad interpretations based on government 

assurances of more limited enforcement.  The CFTC’s statutory reading gives it 

antifraud authority over essentially all cash commodity sales, a patently 

unreasonable result.  See Marinello v. United States, 138 S. Ct. 1101, 1108 (2018) 

(rejecting overbroad interpretation of tax code notwithstanding government 

suggestion that it would exercise prosecutorial discretion); McDonnell v. United 

States, 136 S. Ct. 2355, 2372-73 (2016) (refusing to construe statute broadly “on the 
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assumption that the Government will use it responsibly” (internal quotation 

omitted)). 

CONCLUSION 

This Court should affirm the District Court’s order. 

Dated:  October 15, 2018 FARELLA BRAUN + MARTEL LLP 

By: /s/ Neil A. Goteiner 
Neil A. Goteiner 

Attorneys for MONEX CREDIT COMPANY, 
MONEX DEPOSIT COMPANY, NEWPORT 
SERVICES CORPORATION, LOUIS 
CARABINI and MICHAEL CARABINI 
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STATEMENT OF RELATED CASES 

Pursuant to Ninth Circuit Rule 28-2.6, Appellees hereby state that they do 

not know of any related cases pending in this Court. 

Dated:  October 15, 2018 FARELLA BRAUN + MARTEL LLP 

By: /s/ Neil A. Goteiner 
Neil A. Goteiner 

Attorneys for MONEX CREDIT COMPANY, 
MONEX DEPOSIT COMPANY, NEWPORT 
SERVICES CORPORATION, LOUIS 
CARABINI and MICHAEL CARABINI 
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CERTIFICATION OF COMPLIANCE PURSUANT TO FRAP 32(g) 
AND NINTH CIRCUIT RULE 32-1 

Pursuant to Federal Rule of Appellate Procedure (“FRAP”) 32(g) and Ninth 

Circuit Rule 32-1, I certify that the attached Brief of Defendants-Appellees 

complies with FRAP(a)(5)-(6) and Ninth Circuit Rule 32-1(a), as it is in 14-point 

proportionally-spaced Times New Roman font, and contains 13,988 words, 

exclusive of the portions of the brief excepted by FRAP 32(f), as counted by the 

word processing program used by counsel.   

Dated:  October 15, 2018 FARELLA BRAUN + MARTEL LLP 

By: /s/ Neil A. Goteiner 
Neil A. Goteiner 

Attorneys for MONEX CREDIT COMPANY, 
MONEX DEPOSIT COMPANY, NEWPORT 
SERVICES CORPORATION, LOUIS 
CARABINI and MICHAEL CARABINI 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that I electronically filed the foregoing with the Clerk of the 

Court for the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit by using the 

appellate CM/ECF system on October 15, 2018. 

I certify that all participants in the case are registered CM/ECF users and 

that service will be accomplished by the appellate CM/ECF system. 

Dated:  October 15, 2018 FARELLA BRAUN + MARTEL LLP 

By: /s/ Neil A. Goteiner 
Neil A. Goteiner 

Attorneys for MONEX CREDIT COMPANY, 
MONEX DEPOSIT COMPANY, NEWPORT 
SERVICES CORPORATION, LOUIS 
CARABINI and MICHAEL CARABINI 
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STATUTES:

CEA Section 2(a), 
7 U.S.C. § 2(a) (2012) 

(a) Jurisdiction of Commission; Commodity Futures Trading Commission 

(1) Jurisdiction of Commission 

(A) In general 

The Commission shall have exclusive jurisdiction, except to the extent 

otherwise provided in the Wall Street Transparency and Accountability Act 

of 2010 (including an amendment made by that Act) and subparagraphs (C), 

(D), and (I) of this paragraph and subsections (c) and (f), with respect to 

accounts, agreements (including any transaction which is of the character of, 

or is commonly known to the trade as, an “option”, “privilege”, “indemnity”, 

“bid”, “offer”, “put”, “call”, “advance guaranty”, or “decline guaranty”), and 

transactions involving swaps or contracts of sale of a commodity for future 

delivery (including significant price discovery contracts), traded or executed 

on a contract market designated pursuant to section 7 of this title or a swap 

execution facility pursuant to section 7b-3 of this title or any other board of 

trade, exchange, or market, and transactions subject to regulation by the 

Commission pursuant to section 23 of this title. ***  

CEA Section 2(c)(2)(A),  
7 U.S.C. § 2(c)(2)(A) (2012) 

(2) Commission jurisdiction 

(A) Agreements, contracts, and transactions traded on an organized exchange 

This chapter applies to, and the Commission shall have jurisdiction over, an 

agreement, contract, or transaction described in paragraph (1) that is-- 

(i) a contract of sale of a commodity for future delivery (or an option on such a 
contract), or an option on a commodity (other than foreign currency or a 
security or a group or index of securities), that is executed or traded on an 
organized exchange; 
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(ii) a swap; or 

(iii) an option on foreign currency executed or traded on an organized 
exchange that is not a national securities exchange registered pursuant to 
section 6(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. 

CEA Section 2(c)(2)(C),  
7 U.S.C. § 2(c)(2)(C) (2012) 

(C) 

(i) 

(I) This subparagraph shall apply to any agreement, contract, or transaction 
in foreign currency that is-- 

(aa) offered to, or entered into with, a person that is not an eligible 
contract participant (except that this subparagraph shall not apply if the 
counterparty, or the person offering to be the counterparty, of the person 
that is not an eligible contract participant is a person described in any of 
item (aa), (bb), (ee), or (ff) of subparagraph (B)(i)(II)); and 

(bb) offered, or entered into, on a leveraged or margined basis, or 
financed by the offeror, the counterparty, or a person acting in concert 
with the offeror or counterparty on a similar basis. 

(II) Subclause (I) of this clause shall not apply to-- 

(aa) a security that is not a security futures product; or 

(bb) a contract of sale that-- 

(AA) results in actual delivery within 2 days; or

(BB) creates an enforceable obligation to deliver between a seller and 
buyer that have the ability to deliver and accept delivery, respectively, 
in connection with their line of business.

*** 
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(iv) Sections 6(b) and 6b of this title shall apply to any agreement, contract, or 
transaction described in clause (i) of this subparagraph as if the agreement, 
contract, or transaction were a contract of sale of a commodity for future 
delivery. 

(v) This subparagraph shall not be construed to limit any jurisdiction that the 
Commission may otherwise have under any other provision of this chapter over 
an agreement, contract, or transaction that is a contract of sale of a commodity 
for future delivery. 

CEA Section 2(c)(2)(D),  
7 U.S.C. § 2(c)(2)(D) (2012)   

(D) Retail commodity transactions 

(i) Applicability 

Except as provided in clause (ii), this subparagraph shall apply to any 
agreement, contract, or transaction in any commodity that is--  

(I) entered into with, or offered to (even if not entered into with), a person 
that is not an eligible contract participant or eligible commercial entity; and 

(II) entered into, or offered (even if not entered into), on a leveraged or 
margined basis, or financed by the offeror, the counterparty, or a person 
acting in concert with the offeror or counterparty on a similar basis. 

(ii) Exceptions 

This subparagraph shall not apply to--  

*** 

(III) a contract of sale that-- 

(aa) results in actual delivery within 28 days or such other longer period 
as the Commission may determine by rule or regulation based upon the 
typical commercial practice in cash or spot markets for the commodity 
involved; *** 

*** 
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(iii) Enforcement

Sections 6(a), 6(b), and 6b of this title apply to any agreement, contract, or 
transaction described in clause (i), as if the agreement, contract, or transaction 
was a contract of sale of a commodity for future delivery. 

***    

CEA Section 4b,  
7 U.S.C. § 6b (2012) 

Contracts designed to defraud or mislead 

(a) Unlawful actions 

It shall be unlawful-- 

(1) for any person, in or in connection with any order to make, or the making of, 
any contract of sale of any commodity in interstate commerce or for future 
delivery that is made, or to be made, on or subject to the rules of a designated 
contract market, for or on behalf of any other person; or 

(2) for any person, in or in connection with any order to make, or the making of, 
any contract of sale of any commodity for future delivery, or swap, that is 
made, or to be made, for or on behalf of, or with, any other person, other than 
on or subject to the rules of a designated contract market-- 

(A) to cheat or defraud or attempt to cheat or defraud the other person; 

(B) willfully to make or cause to be made to the other person any false report 
or statement or willfully to enter or cause to be entered for the other person 
any false record; 

(C) willfully to deceive or attempt to deceive the other person by any means 
whatsoever in regard to any order or contract or the disposition or execution 
of any order or contract, or in regard to any act of agency performed, with 
respect to any order or contract for or, in the case of paragraph (2), with the 
other person; *** 

*** 
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CEA Section 6(c),  
7 U.S.C. § 9 (2012) 

Prohibition Regarding Manipulation and False Information 

(1) Prohibition against manipulation

It shall be unlawful for any person, directly or indirectly, to use or employ, or 
attempt to use or employ, in connection with any swap, or a contract of sale of any 
commodity in interstate commerce, or for future delivery on or subject to the rules 
of any registered entity, any manipulative or deceptive device or contrivance, in 
contravention of such rules and regulations as the Commission shall promulgate by 
not later than 1 year after July 21, 2010, provided no rule or regulation 
promulgated by the Commission shall require any person to disclose to another 
person nonpublic information that may be material to the market price, rate, or 
level of the commodity transaction, except as necessary to make any statement 
made to the other person in or in connection with the transaction not misleading in 
any material respect.

***   

(3) Other Manipulation 

In addition to the prohibition in paragraph (1), it shall be unlawful for any person, 
directly or indirectly, to manipulate or attempt to manipulate the price of any swap, 
or of any commodity in interstate commerce, or for future delivery on or subject to 
the rules of any registered entity. 

***    

CEA Section 22,  
7 U.S.C. § 25 (2012)   

(a) Actual damages; actionable transactions; exclusive remedy 

(1) Any person (other than a registered entity or registered futures association) who 
violates this chapter or who willfully aids, abets, counsels, induces, or procures the 
commission of a violation of this chapter shall be liable for actual damages 
resulting from one or more of the transactions referred to in subparagraphs (A) 
through (D) of this paragraph and caused by such violation to any other person-- 

(A) who received trading advice from such person for a fee; 

  Case: 18-55815, 10/15/2018, ID: 11047850, DktEntry: 26, Page 83 of 97



73 

(B) who made through such person any contract of sale of any commodity for 
future delivery (or option on such contract or any commodity) or any swap ; or 
who deposited with or paid to such person money, securities, or property (or 
incurred debt in lieu thereof) in connection with any order to make such 
contract or any swap;

(C) who purchased from or sold to such person or placed through such person 
an order for the purchase or sale of-- 

(i) an option subject to section 6c of this title (other than an option purchased 
or sold on a registered entity or other board of trade); 

(ii) a contract subject to section 23 of this title; or1 

(iii) an interest or participation in a commodity pool; or 

(iv) a swap; or 

(D) who purchased or sold a contract referred to in subparagraph (B) hereof or 
swap if the violation constitutes-- 

(i) the use or employment of, or an attempt to use or employ, in connection 
with a swap, or a contract of sale of a commodity, in interstate commerce, or 
for future delivery on or subject to the rules of any registered entity, any 
manipulative device or contrivance in contravention of such rules and 
regulations as the Commission shall promulgate by not later than 1 year after 
July 21, 2010; or 

(ii) a manipulation of the price of any such contract or swap or the price of 
the commodity underlying such contract or swap. 

***   
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REGULATIONS: 

CFTC Rule 180.1,  
17 C.F.R. § 180.1 (2018) 

Prohibition on the employment, or attempted employment, of manipulative 
and deceptive devices 

(a) It shall be unlawful for any person, directly or indirectly, in connection with 
any swap, or contract of sale of any commodity in interstate commerce, or contract 
for future delivery on or subject to the rules of any registered entity, to 
intentionally or recklessly: 

(1) Use or employ, or attempt to use or employ, any manipulative device, 
scheme, or artifice to defraud; 

(2) Make, or attempt to make, any untrue or misleading statement of a material 
fact or to omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements 
made not untrue or misleading; 

(3) Engage, or attempt to engage, in any act, practice, or course of business, 
which operates or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon any person; 

(4) Deliver or cause to be delivered, or attempt to deliver or cause to be 
delivered, for transmission through the mails or interstate commerce, by any 
means of communication whatsoever, a false or misleading or inaccurate report 
concerning crop or market information or conditions that affect or tend to affect 
the price of any commodity in interstate commerce, knowing, or acting in 
reckless disregard of the fact that such report is false, misleading or inaccurate. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, no violation of this subsection shall exist where 
the person mistakenly transmits, in good faith, false or misleading or inaccurate 
information to a price reporting service. 

(b) Nothing in this section shall be construed to require any person to disclose to 
another person nonpublic information that may be material to the market price, 
rate, or level of the commodity transaction, except as necessary to make any 
statement made to the other person in or in connection with the transaction not 
misleading in any material respect. 

(c) Nothing in this section shall affect, or be construed to affect, the applicability of 
Commodity Exchange Act section 9(a)(2). 

  Case: 18-55815, 10/15/2018, ID: 11047850, DktEntry: 26, Page 85 of 97



75 

CFTC Rule 180.2,  
17 C.F.R. § 180.2 (2018) 

It shall be unlawful for any person, directly or indirectly, to manipulate or attempt 
to manipulate the price of any swap, or of any commodity in interstate commerce, 
or for future delivery on or subject to the rules of any registered entity. 
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TREATISE: 

Phillip McBride Johnson et al., Derivatives Regulations §5.05[3] (2018 Supp.) 

30203\6982999.1 
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§ 5.05[2] DERIVATIVES REGULATION 

7.17  Complaint, CFTC v. Kraft Foods Group, Inc., No. cv-15-2881 (N.D. Apr. 1, 2015) 
(hereinafter "Complaint"). The CFTC also alleged that Kraft's positions in wheat futures violated 
speculative position limits. 

7.18  See A Joint Report of the SEC and the CFTC on Harmonization of Regulation at 6 (Oct. 16, 
2009) ("The approaches of the securities and futures laws also diverge on the issue of insider 
trading. . . . The difference between the two regimes is attributable, first, to the historical functions 
of the futures markets. These markets permit hedgers to use their non-public material information 
to protect themselves against risks to their commodity positions. Though counterparties to these 
kinds of transactions may not have access to the same nonpublic information, corporate officials and 
personnel generally do not have a similar fiduciary duty with respect to those counterparties; indeed, 
their duties are to ensure that the company properly manages its risks by trading on the best available 
information."), available at: http://www.cftc.govistellent/groups/publici@otherif/documents/ifdocs/  
opacftc-secfinaljointreport101.pdf; and the CFTC's Study of the Nature, Extent and Effects of 
Futures Trading by Persons Possessing Material, Nonpublic Information, Pursuant to Section 23(b) 
of the CEA, as amended, CFTC (Sept. 1984). 

7'19  2016 WL 3476678 (N.D. Ill., June 27, 2016) (Slip copy).,  
7.20  767 F. Supp. 2d 880 (N.D. Ill. 2011). 
7.21 2016 WL 3476678, at *20, quoting In re Dairy Farmers, 767 F. 2d at 904. 

§ 5.05[2] Direct or Circumstantial Evidence of Intent .  

Page 1268. Add the following to footnote 19: 

; In re Platinum and Palladium Commodities Litigation, 828 F. Supp. 2d 588 
(S.D.N.Y. 2011) (failure to adequately allege manipulative intent; sufficiently 
alleging claim under Sherman Antitrust Act). See also In re Amaranth Natural Gas 
Commodities Litigation, No. 12-2075, 2013 WL 5302678 (2d Cir. Sept 23, 2013) 
("Objective indications that a large position is part Of, such a scheme may raise a 
more plausible inference of actual knowledge of manipulation") (citing this 
treatise). 

§ 5.05[3] Specific Intent Versus Willful Conduct Without Price Intent 

Page 1268. Change the title of the subsection to: 

§ 5.05[3] Specific Intent Versus Willful Conduct Without Price Intent; 
The New Standard Under the Dodd-Frank Act 

Page 1271. Add the following new footnote at the end of the last sentence of 
the paragraph carrying over from page 1270: 

33.1  See, e.g., Hershey v. Energy Transfer Partners, LP, 2010 WL 2510122 (5th Cir. 2010) 
(allegations that the defendants should have known was insufficient in light of specific intent 
requirement that court applied to private suits challenging conduct as manipulative). 
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7'17Complaint, CFTC v. Kraft Foods Group, Inc., No. cv-15-2881 (N.D. Ill., Apr. 1,2015)
(hereinafter "Complaint"). The CFTC also alleged that Kraft's positions in wheat futures violated
speculative position limits.

t'18See AlointReportof theSECandtheCFTConHarmonizationof Regulationat6(Oct. 16,

2009) ("The approaches of the securities and futures laws also diverge on the ìssue of insider
trading. . . . The difference between the two regimes is attributable, first, to the historical functions
of the futures markets. These markets permit hedgers to use their non-public material information
to protecf themselves against risks to their commodity positions. Though counterparties to these

kinds of transactions may not have access to the same nonpublic information, corporate officials and
personnel generally do not have a similar fiduciary duty with respect to those counterparties; indeed,
their duties are to ensure that the company properly manages its risks by trading on the best available
information.") , available df: http://www.cftc.gov/stellenlgroupsipublic/@otherif/documents/ifdocs/
opacftc-secfinaljointreportl0l.pdf; and the CFTC's Study of the Nature, E*tent and Effects of
Futures Trading by Persons Possessing Material, Nonpublíc Information, Pursuant to Section 23(b)

of the CBA, as amended, CFTC (Sept. 1984).
7'te 2016WL3476678 (N.D. ru,, lwe27,2016) (Slip copy).
'7'2o767 

F. Supp. 2d 880 (N.D. I11. 2011).
7'21 2016 v,lL 3476678, at *20, quoting In te Dairy Farmers, 767 F. 2d at 904.

S 5.05t21 Direct or Circumstantial Evidence of lntent

Page 1268. Add the following to footnote 19:

; In re Platinum and Palladium Commodities Litigation, 828 F. Supp. 2d 588
(S.D.N,Y. 2011) (failure to adequately allege manipulative intent; sufficiently
alleging claim under Sherman Antitrust Act). See also In r¿ Amaranth Natural Gas

Commodities Litigation, No. 12-2075 ,2013 WL 530267 8 (2d Cir. Sept. 23, 2013)
("Objective indications that a large position is part of such a scheme may raise a
more plausible inference of actual knowledge of manipulation") (citing this
treatise).

S 5.05t31 Specific lntent Versus Willful Conduct Without Price lntent

Pøge 1268. Chønge the title of the subsection to:

S 5.05t31 Specific lntent Versus Willful Conduct Without Price lntent;
The New Standard Under the Dodd-Frank Act

Pøge 127L Add the following new footuote øt the end of the Inst sentence oÍ
the pørøgraph ca.rrying over from page 1270:

"t See, e.g., Hershey v. Energy Transfer Partners, LR 2010 WL 2510122 (5th Cir. 2010)
(allegations that the defendants should have known was insufficient in light of specific intent
requirement that court applied to private suits challenging conduct as manipulative).
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Page 1271. Add the following new text after the paragraph carrying over

from page 1270:

Tn CFTC v. Wilson,j3'to the court rejected the agency's attempt to revive

Hohenberg Brothers Co.'s "intent to affect market prices" standard. An eatly order

denying defendants' motion to dismiss opined that, in order to prove market

manipulation or attempted market manipulation, the CFTC must prove "'an intent

to affect market prices."'33'1b The decision, however, also held that to meet the

specific intent element for a claim of manipulation or attempted manipulation the

CFTC must plead that defendants "acted (or failed to act) with a purpose or

conscious object of causing or affecting a price or price trend in the market that did

not reflect the legitimate forces of supply and demand." The CFTC interpreted the

decision to hold that the intent standard is merely the "intent to affect market price."
In its subsequent decision denying cross-motions for summary judgment, the

court rejected the CFTC's interpretation of the earlier opinion. The subsequent

decision, entered in September 2016, held that:

CFTC must prove that Defendants had a specific intent to affect the market
prices that "did not reflect the legitimate forces of supply and demand." This
means, that there is "no manipulation without intent to cause artificial
prices."33 l'

The district court also addresses what evidence may be sufficient to prove or
disprove a specific intent to cause an artificial price. The. case involved an

exchange-traded interest rate futures contract known as the IDEX USD Three-

Month Interest Rate Swap Futures Contract (the "Three-Month Contract") listed
by the Intemational Derivatives Clearinghouse ("IDCH"). The Three-Month
Contract required the long party to pay fixed rate amounts and the short party to
pay floating interest rate payments based on the Three-Month LIBOR rate. The

daily settlement rate for the contract was set from a hierarchy of sources, which
included, among other things (l) unexecuted elecftonic bids and offers placed

during 2:45 and 3:00 pm EST (the "Settlement Period") and (2) the prevailing
rates in the OTC swaps markets. The daily settlement price also could not be

higher than the best electronic offer or lower than the best electronic bid.
The CFTC alleged that during the Settlement Period the defendants placed

bids, which they did not expect to be executed, at higher rates than those of
consummated trades in the OTC market. The CFTC alleged the bids were entered

for the purpose of raising the settlement rate. The defendants countered that the

bid rates were not artificial because they reflected the conect valuation of the

Three-Month Contract rates. The district court denied both parties' motion for
summary judgment on the intent element, finding that a reasonable jury could find
that the defendants had the specific intent to create artificial prices based on
evidence indicating that (1) the defendants first developed alarge long position
and then placed electronic bids during the PM Settlement Period, without
finalizing any corresponding transactions; (2) the defendants had the intent to

339

  Case: 18-55815, 10/15/2018, ID: 11047850, DktEntry: 26, Page 91 of 97



OFFENSES AND REMEDIES § 5.05[31 

Page 1271. Add the following new text after the paragraph carrying over 
from page 1270: 

In CFTC v. Wilson,33." the court rejected the agency's attempt to. revive 
Hohenberg Brothers Co.'s "intent to affect market prices" standard. An early order 
denying defendants' motion to dismiss opined that, in order to prove market 
manipulation or attempted market manipulation, .the CFTC must proye "'an intent 
to affect market prices.' "33 Ab  The decision, however, also held that to meet the 
specific intent element for a claim of manipulation or attempted manipulation the 
CFTC must plead that defendants "acted, (or failed to act) with a purpose or 
conscious object of causing or affecting a price or price trend in the market that did 
not reflect the legitimate forces of supply and demand." The CFTC interpreted the 
decision to hold that the intent standard is merely the "intent to affect market price." 

In its subsequent decision denying cross-motions for summary judgment, the 
court rejected the CFTC' s interpretation of the earlier opinion. The subsequent 
decision, entered in September 2016, held that: 

CFTC must prove that Defendants had a specific intent to affect the market 
prices that "did not reflect the legitimate forces of supply and demand." This 
means, that there is "no manipulation without intent to cause artificial 
prices."33.  ic  

The district court also addresses what evidence may be sufficient to prove or 
disprove a specific intent to cause an artificial price. The. case involved an 
exchange-traded interest rate futures contract known as the IDEX USD Three-
Month Interest Rate Swap Futures Contract (the "Three-Month Contract") listed 
by the International Derivatives Clearinghouse ("IDCH"). The Three-Month 
Contract required the long party to pay fixed rate amounts and the short party to 
pay floating interest rate payments based on the Three-Month LIBOR rate. The 
daily settlement rate for the contract was set from a hierarchy of sources, which 
included, among other things (1) unexecuted electronic bids and offers placed 
during 2:45 and 3:00 pm. EST (the "Settlement Period") and (2) the prevailing 
rates in the OTC swaps markets. The daily settlement price also could not be 
higher than the best electronic offer or lower than the best electronic bid. 

The CFTC alleged that during the Settlement Period the defendants placed 
bids, 'which they did not expect to be executed, at higher rates than those of 
consummated trades in the OTC market. The CFTC alleged the bids were entered 
for the purpose of raising the settlement rate. The defendants countered that the 
bid rates were not artificial because they reflected the correct valuation of the 
Three-Month Contract rates. The district court denied both parties' motion for 
summary judgment on the intent element, finding that a reasonable jury could find 
that the defendants had the specific intent to create artificial prices based on 
evidence indicating that (1) the defendants first developed a large long position 
and then placed electronic bids during the PM Settlement Period, without 
finalizing any corresponding transactions; (2)' the defendants had the intent to 
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7'17Complaint, CFTC v. Kraft Foods Group, Inc., No. cv-15-2881 (N.D. Ill., Apr. 1,2015)
(hereinafter "Complaint"). The CFTC also alleged that Kraft's positions in wheat futures violated
speculative position limits.

t'18See AlointReportof theSECandtheCFTConHarmonizationof Regulationat6(Oct. 16,
2009) ("The approaches of the securities and futures laws also diverge on the ìssue of insider
trading. . . . The difference between the two regimes is attributable, first, to the historical functions
of the futures markets. These markets permit hedgers to use their non-public material information
to protecf themselves against risks to their commodity positions. Though counterparties to these
kinds of transactions may not have access to the same nonpublic information, corporate officials and
personnel generally do not have a similar fiduciary duty with respect to those counterparties; indeed,
their duties are to ensure that the company properly manages its risks by trading on the best available
information.") , available df: http://www.cftc.gov/stellenlgroupsipublic/@otherif/documents/ifdocs/
opacftc-secfinaljointreportl0l.pdf; and the CFTC's Study of the Nature, E*tent and Effects of
Futures Trading by Persons Possessing Material, Nonpublíc Information, Pursuant to Section 23(b)
of the CBA, as amended, CFTC (Sept. 1984).

7'te 2016WL3476678 (N.D. ru,, lwe27,2016) (Slip copy).
'7'2o767 

F. Supp. 2d 880 (N.D. I11. 2011).
7'21 2016 v,lL 3476678, at *20, quoting In te Dairy Farmers, 767 F. 2d at 904.

S 5.05t21 Direct or Circumstantial Evidence of lntent

Page 1268. Add the following to footnote 19:

; In re Platinum and Palladium Commodities Litigation, 828 F. Supp. 2d 588
(S.D.N,Y. 2011) (failure to adequately allege manipulative intent; sufficiently
alleging claim under Sherman Antitrust Act). See also In r¿ Amaranth Natural Gas
Commodities Litigation, No. 12-2075 ,2013 WL 530267 8 (2d Cir. Sept. 23, 2013)
("Objective indications that a large position is part of such a scheme may raise a
more plausible inference of actual knowledge of manipulation") (citing this
treatise).

S 5.05t31 Specific lntent Versus Willful Conduct Without Price lntent

Pøge 1268. Chønge the title of the subsection to:

S 5.05t31 Specific lntent Versus Willful Conduct Without Price lntent;
The New Standard Under the Dodd-Frank Act

Pøge 127L Add the following new footuote øt the end of the Inst sentence oÍ
the pørøgraph ca.rrying over from page 1270:

"t See, e.g., Hershey v. Energy Transfer Partners, LR 2010 WL 2510122 (5th Cir. 2010)
(allegations that the defendants should have known was insufficient in light of specific intent
requirement that court applied to private suits challenging conduct as manipulative).
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Page 1271. Add the following new text after the paragraph carrying over

from page 1270:

Tn CFTC v. Wilson,j3'to the court rejected the agency's attempt to revive

Hohenberg Brothers Co.'s "intent to affect market prices" standard. An eatly order

denying defendants' motion to dismiss opined that, in order to prove market

manipulation or attempted market manipulation, the CFTC must prove "'an intent
to affect market prices."'33'1b The decision, however, also held that to meet the

specific intent element for a claim of manipulation or attempted manipulation the

CFTC must plead that defendants "acted (or failed to act) with a purpose or
conscious object of causing or affecting a price or price trend in the market that did
not reflect the legitimate forces of supply and demand." The CFTC interpreted the

decision to hold that the intent standard is merely the "intent to affect market price."
In its subsequent decision denying cross-motions for summary judgment, the

court rejected the CFTC's interpretation of the earlier opinion. The subsequent

decision, entered in September 2016, held that:

CFTC must prove that Defendants had a specific intent to affect the market
prices that "did not reflect the legitimate forces of supply and demand." This
means, that there is "no manipulation without intent to cause artificial
prices."33 l'

The district court also addresses what evidence may be sufficient to prove or
disprove a specific intent to cause an artificial price. The. case involved an
exchange-traded interest rate futures contract known as the IDEX USD Three-
Month Interest Rate Swap Futures Contract (the "Three-Month Contract") listed
by the Intemational Derivatives Clearinghouse ("IDCH"). The Three-Month
Contract required the long party to pay fixed rate amounts and the short party to
pay floating interest rate payments based on the Three-Month LIBOR rate. The
daily settlement rate for the contract was set from a hierarchy of sources, which
included, among other things (l) unexecuted elecftonic bids and offers placed
during 2:45 and 3:00 pm EST (the "Settlement Period") and (2) the prevailing
rates in the OTC swaps markets. The daily settlement price also could not be
higher than the best electronic offer or lower than the best electronic bid.

The CFTC alleged that during the Settlement Period the defendants placed
bids, which they did not expect to be executed, at higher rates than those of
consummated trades in the OTC market. The CFTC alleged the bids were entered
for the purpose of raising the settlement rate. The defendants countered that the
bid rates were not artificial because they reflected the conect valuation of the
Three-Month Contract rates. The district court denied both parties' motion for
summary judgment on the intent element, finding that a reasonable jury could find
that the defendants had the specific intent to create artificial prices based on
evidence indicating that (1) the defendants first developed alarge long position
and then placed electronic bids during the PM Settlement Period, without
finalizing any corresponding transactions; (2) the defendants had the intent to
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affect the IDEX rates; and (3) defendants' traders made statements suggesting that 
they did not believe their bids would be executed. The court reasoned that, 
together, these facts could lead a reasonable jury to conclude that defendants 
developed a long position in the Three-Month contract and then undertook a 
bidding strategy to create artificial prices. ' 

The court also denied the CFTC's cross-motion for summary judgment on 
its attempted manipulation claim finding that a jury reasonably could conclude 
that defendants did not intend to create an artificial price based upon the evidence 
indicating that (1) there was an economic rationalC for pricing the Three-Month 
Contract higher than the OTC rates; and (2) on one occasion when a Counterparty 
to defendants' electronic bids had in fact appeared, defendants had attempted to 
trade at rates above the OTC rates for a notional amount approximately three 
times larger than its open position, thus evidencing defendants' belief in the merits 
of the higher rates by substantially increasing their market exposure at those rates. 
The court held that, together, this evidence could lead a reasonable jury 'to 
conclude that defendants believed that the Three-Month Contract had been 
undervalued and that the defendants' bids were legitimate sources of supply and 
demand. 

In 2010; Congress expressly adopted a broader standard to replace the 
interpretations that required specific intent.332  The Dodd-Frank Wall Street 
Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010, amended section 6' of the 
Commodity Exchange Act to expressly apply to manipulative and deceptive 
acts.33'3  This amendment tracks the language of the federal securities laws.314  As 
discussed elsewhere in this treatise, even under the standard applicable under the 
securities laws, manipulation requires a showing that the purpose of the 
challenged conduct is to artificially impact price.33'5 

The change in language could well result in a significant lessening, of the 
burden of proof in manipulation cases. For decades, the courts (with CFTC 
concurrence) have defined a price manipulation as a course of conduct whose 
conscious and deliberate purpose was to affect the price of a commodity by 
raising, lowering or stabilizing it.33'6  This standard imposed a heavy burden of 
proof on the CFTC and private claimants and was intended to offer traders a 
"bright line" between enthusiastic trading and impermissible market tampering. 
Members of the Congress objected to this formulation and, at least in the context 
of civil proceedings, prevailed on a new standard based on an effort to "use or 
employ, or attempt to use or employ . . . any manipulative or deception,device or 
contrivance . . ."33.7  At the same time, this formulation is expressly stated3" to 
leave intact the criminal prohibition against manipulation under the Act33'9  that 
does not contain this language. The new provision also makes oblique reference 
to "other manipulation" and, again, fails to incorporate the new language.33.1°  

As noted above, where applicable, the new language in the Act parrots the 
terms of some antifraud sections of the federal securities laws and, at least in 
the establishment of. "deceptive" behavior, uses' a standard less onerous than the 
deliberate purpose requirement from prior CFTC precedent. Moreover the same 
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affect the IDEX rates; and (3) defendants' traders made statements suggesting that
they did not believe their bids would be executed. The court reasoned that,
together, these facts could lead a reasonable jury to conclude that defendants
developed a long position in the Three-Month contract and then undertook a
bidding strategy to create artificial prices.

The court also denied the CFTC's cross-motion for summary judgment on
its attempted manipulation claim finding that a jury reasonably could conclude
that defendants did not intend to create an artificial price based upon the evidence
indicating that (1) there was an economic rationale for pricing the Three-Month
Contract higher than the oTC rates; and (2) on one occasion when a counterparty
to defendants' elecffonic bids had in fact appeared, defendants had attempted to
trade at rates above the oTC rates for a notional amount approximately three

times larger than its open position, thus evidencing defendants' belief in the merits
of the higher rates by substantially increasing their market exposure at those rates.

The court held that, together, this evidence could lead a reasonable jury to
conclude that defendants believed that the Three-Month Contract had been

undervalued and that the defendants' bids were legitimate sources of supply and
demand.

In 2010, Congress expressly adopted a broader standard to replace the
interpretations that required specific intent.33'2 The Dodd-Frank wall street
Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010, amended section 6 of the

commodity Exchange Açt to expressly apply to manipulative and deceptive
acts.33'3 This amendment tracks the languagãìr tne federal securities raws.3fa As
discussed elsewhere in this treatise, even under the standard applicable under the

securities laws, manipulation requires a showing that the purpose of the

challenged conduct is to artificially impact price.33'5

The change in language could well result in a significant lessening. of the

burden of proof in manipulation cases. For decades, the courts (with CFTC
concunence) have defined a price manipulation âs a course of conduct whose
conscious and deliberate purpose was to affect the price of a commodity by
raising, lowering or stabilizing it.33,6 This standard imposed a heavy burden of
proof on the CFTC and private claimants and was intended to offer traders a
"bright line" between enthusiastic trading and impermissible market tampering.
Members of the Congress objected to this formulation and, at least in the context
of civil proceedings, prevailed on a new standard based on an effort to "use or
employ, or attempt to use or employ . . . any manipulative or deception device or
contrivance . . ,¡¡33'7 At the same time, this formulation is .*p."sly stated33'8 to
leave intact the criminal prohibition against manipulation under the Act33'e that
does not contain this language. The new provision also makes oblique reference
to "other manipulation" and, again, fails to incorporate the new language.33,1o

As noted above, where applicable, the new language in the Act panots the

terms of some antifraud sections of the federal securities laws and, at least in
the establishment of "deceptive" behavior, uses a standard less onerous than the

deliberate purpose requirement from prior CFTC precedent. Moreover the same
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new phraseology is used with respect to private rights of action under the Act.33'rl
But the failure of the Congress to include this phrase in theAct's criminal provision

leaves unclear whether, for criminal liability, the former deliberate purpose

standard remains applicable. Moreover, the mention of "other manipulation"
without use of the new phraseology presents one more mystery to be solved by the

CFTC.
In the administration of these provisions, the CFTC will need to consider

whether a lower burden of proof will discourage trader participation because of
less clear lines between permissible and forbidden activity that increase the risk
of both costly investigations and severe liability33 12 and, as a result, lead to a

shrinkage in the pool of capital needed to accommodate the full hedging needs of
commercial interests.

The CFTC adopted Regulations sections 180.1 and 180.2 in an attempt to
clarify the scope of liability for rnanipulation and fraud.33'13 The regulations make
a distinction between fraud-based manipulation that can occur based on reckless

conduct and non-fraud based manipulation that requires specific intent. By
following the SEC's langupge in its Rule 10b-5,33'14 in Regulation section 180.1

the CFTC opted for a recklessness rather than specific intent requirement.

Conduct must be at least reckless to constitute a violation.33'ls 1n the preamble to
Regulation section 180.1, the CFTC defines recklessness as "an act or omission
that 'departs so far from the standards of ordinary care that it is very difficult to
believe the actor was not aware of what'he or she was doing.' "33'1ó Regulation
section 180.1 thus applies a recklessness standard to what the CFTC refers to as

fraud-based manipulation.
In contrast to Regulation section 180.1 that speaks in terms of "any

manipulative device, scheme or artifice to defraud," Regulation section 180.2

addresses "non-fraud based manipulation" and retains the specific intent require-
ment under prior law.33'17 The Commission retained the specific intent require-
ment as "necessary to ensure that legitimate conduct is not captured by final Rule
180.2, which covers non'fraud based manipulation."33'1I

Although in adopting the regulations the CFTC draws the distinction
between fraud-based and non-fraud based manipulation, there is no bright-line test
for this distincfion. Accordingly, we will have to await Commission enforcement
actions under these new regulations to see the extent to which the recklessness

standard under Regulation section 180.1 will eviscerate the specific intent
requirement under former law that is retained under Regulation section 1.8ù2.33'1e

The commission explained, however, that in applying Regulation section 180.2,
it will adhere to the traditional test for manipulation that the Commission
developed under the Act prior to the adoption of the Dodd-Frank amend-
ments.33'20 It remains to be seen whether Regulation section 180.1's recklessness
standard may encourage CFTC enforcement staff.to look for anything that might
be considered deceptive in order to charge the easier violation and thus not having
to prove the specific intent that is required under Regulation section 180.2. Given
the language of the new Regulation section 180.1, it is likely that the CFTC
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new phraseology is used with respect to private rights of action under the Act.33.11  
But the failure of the Congress to include this phrase in the Act',s criminal provision 
leaves unclear whether, for criminal liability, the former deliberate purpose 
standard remains applicable. Moreover, the mention of "other manipulation" 
without use of the new phraseology presents one more mystery to be solved by the 
CFTC. 

In the administration of these provisions, the CFTC will need to consider 
whether a lower burden of proof will discourage trader participation because of 
less clear lines between permissible and forbidden activity that increase the risk 
of both costly investigations and severe liability33'12  and, as a result, lead to a 
shrinkage in the pool of capital needed to accommodate the full hedging needs of 
commercial interests. 

The CFTC adopted Regulations sections 180.1 and 180.2 in an attempt to 
clarify the scope of liability for manipulation and fraud.33'13  The regulations make 
a distinction between fraud-based manipulation that can occur based on reckless 
conduct and non-fraud based manipulation that requires specific intent. By 
following the SEC's language in its Rule 10b-5,33'14  in Regulation section 180.1 
the CFTC opted for a recklessness rather than specific intent requirement. 
Conduct must be at least reckless to constitute a violation.33.15  In the preamble to 
Regulation section 180.1, the CFTC defines recklessness as "an act or omission 
that 'departs so far from the standards of ordinary care that it is very difficult to 
believe the actor was not aware of what he or she was doing.' "33'16  Regulation 
section 180.1 thus applies a recklessness standard to what the CFTC refers to as 
fraud-based, manipulation. 

In contrast to Regulation section 180.1 that speaks in terms of "any 
manipulative device, scheme or artifice to defraud," Regulation section 180.2 
addresses "non-fraud based manipulation" and retains the specific intent require-
ment under prior law.33.17  The Commission retained the specific intent require-
ment as "necessary to ensure that legitimate conduct is not captured by final Rule 
180.2, which covers non-fraud based manipulation:63'1g  

Although in adopting the regulations the CFTC draws the distinction 
between fraud-based and non-fraud based manipulation, there is no bright-line test 
for this distinction. Accordingly, we will have to await Commission enforcement 
actions under these new regulations to see the extent to which the recklessness 
standard under Regulation section 180.1 will eviscerate the specific intent 
requirement under former law that is retained under Regulation section 180.2.33'19  
The Commission explained, however, that in applying Regulation section 180.2, 
it will adhere to the traditional test for manipulation that the Commission 
developed under the Act prior to the adoption of the Dodd-Frank amend-
ments.33.2°  It remains to be seen whether Regulation section 180.1's recklessness 
standard may encourage CFTC enforcement staff to look for anything that might 
be considered deceptive in order to charge the easier violation and thus not having 
to prove the specific intent that is required under Regulation section 180.2. Given 
the language of the new Regulation section 180.1, it is likely that the CFTC 
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affect the IDEX rates; and (3) defendants' traders made statements suggesting that
they did not believe their bids would be executed. The court reasoned that,
together, these facts could lead a reasonable jury to conclude that defendants
developed a long position in the Three-Month contract and then undertook a
bidding strategy to create artificial prices.

The court also denied the CFTC's cross-motion for summary judgment on
its attempted manipulation claim finding that a jury reasonably could conclude
that defendants did not intend to create an artificial price based upon the evidence
indicating that (1) there was an economic rationale for pricing the Three-Month
Contract higher than the oTC rates; and (2) on one occasion when a counterparty
to defendants' elecffonic bids had in fact appeared, defendants had attempted to
trade at rates above the oTC rates for a notional amount approximately three

times larger than its open position, thus evidencing defendants' belief in the merits
of the higher rates by substantially increasing their market exposure at those rates.

The court held that, together, this evidence could lead a reasonable jury to
conclude that defendants believed that the Three-Month Contract had been

undervalued and that the defendants' bids were legitimate sources of supply and
demand.

In 2010, Congress expressly adopted a broader standard to replace the
interpretations that required specific intent.33'2 The Dodd-Frank wall street
Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010, amended section 6 of the

commodity Exchange Açt to expressly apply to manipulative and deceptive
acts.33'3 This amendment tracks the languagãìr tne federal securities raws.3fa As
discussed elsewhere in this treatise, even under the standard applicable under the

securities laws, manipulation requires a showing that the purpose of the

challenged conduct is to artificially impact price.33'5

The change in language could well result in a significant lessening. of the

burden of proof in manipulation cases. For decades, the courts (with CFTC
concunence) have defined a price manipulation âs a course of conduct whose
conscious and deliberate purpose was to affect the price of a commodity by
raising, lowering or stabilizing it.33,6 This standard imposed a heavy burden of
proof on the CFTC and private claimants and was intended to offer traders a
"bright line" between enthusiastic trading and impermissible market tampering.
Members of the Congress objected to this formulation and, at least in the context
of civil proceedings, prevailed on a new standard based on an effort to "use or
employ, or attempt to use or employ . . . any manipulative or deception device or
contrivance . . ,¡¡33'7 At the same time, this formulation is .*p."sly stated33'8 to
leave intact the criminal prohibition against manipulation under the Act33'e that
does not contain this language. The new provision also makes oblique reference
to "other manipulation" and, again, fails to incorporate the new language.33,1o

As noted above, where applicable, the new language in the Act panots the

terms of some antifraud sections of the federal securities laws and, at least in
the establishment of "deceptive" behavior, uses a standard less onerous than the

deliberate purpose requirement from prior CFTC precedent. Moreover the same
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new phraseology is used with respect to private rights of action under the Act.33'rl
But the failure of the Congress to include this phrase in theAct's criminal provision

leaves unclear whether, for criminal liability, the former deliberate purpose

standard remains applicable. Moreover, the mention of "other manipulation"
without use of the new phraseology presents one more mystery to be solved by the

CFTC.
In the administration of these provisions, the CFTC will need to consider

whether a lower burden of proof will discourage trader participation because of
less clear lines between permissible and forbidden activity that increase the risk
of both costly investigations and severe liability33 12 and, as a result, lead to a

shrinkage in the pool of capital needed to accommodate the full hedging needs of
commercial interests.

The CFTC adopted Regulations sections 180.1 and 180.2 in an attempt to
clarify the scope of liability for rnanipulation and fraud.33'13 The regulations make
a distinction between fraud-based manipulation that can occur based on reckless

conduct and non-fraud based manipulation that requires specific intent. By
following the SEC's langupge in its Rule 10b-5,33'14 in Regulation section 180.1

the CFTC opted for a recklessness rather than specific intent requirement.

Conduct must be at least reckless to constitute a violation.33'ls 1n the preamble to
Regulation section 180.1, the CFTC defines recklessness as "an act or omission
that 'departs so far from the standards of ordinary care that it is very difficult to
believe the actor was not aware of what'he or she was doing.' "33'1ó Regulation
section 180.1 thus applies a recklessness standard to what the CFTC refers to as

fraud-based manipulation.
In contrast to Regulation section 180.1 that speaks in terms of "any

manipulative device, scheme or artifice to defraud," Regulation section 180.2

addresses "non-fraud based manipulation" and retains the specific intent require-
ment under prior law.33'17 The Commission retained the specific intent require-
ment as "necessary to ensure that legitimate conduct is not captured by final Rule
180.2, which covers non'fraud based manipulation."33'1I

Although in adopting the regulations the CFTC draws the distinction
between fraud-based and non-fraud based manipulation, there is no bright-line test
for this distincfion. Accordingly, we will have to await Commission enforcement
actions under these new regulations to see the extent to which the recklessness

standard under Regulation section 180.1 will eviscerate the specific intent
requirement under former law that is retained under Regulation section 1.8ù2.33'1e

The commission explained, however, that in applying Regulation section 180.2,
it will adhere to the traditional test for manipulation that the Commission
developed under the Act prior to the adoption of the Dodd-Frank amend-
ments.33'20 It remains to be seen whether Regulation section 180.1's recklessness
standard may encourage CFTC enforcement staff.to look for anything that might
be considered deceptive in order to charge the easier violation and thus not having
to prove the specific intent that is required under Regulation section 180.2. Given
the language of the new Regulation section 180.1, it is likely that the CFTC
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enforcement division may expand its raw-power investigations to try to find other 
conduct (lying to the broker about motive, not answering phone calls, citing 
hedging need, etc.) in order to invoke the fraud-based manipulation recklessness 
standard. The SEC has utilized its authority under SEC Rule 10b-5 to pursue 
manipulative conduct, claiming that the manipulation deceived investors regard.. 
ing the market value of securities.33.21  The CFTC may take a similar view of 
Regulation section 180.1. 

The Commission did clarify, however, that Regulation section 180.1 and its 
recklessness standard is not violated by a failure to disclose market conditions that 
the actor possesses lawfully.33.22  The CFTC clarified that "no commenC33.23  
response is considered to be silence and will not create liability for nondisclosure 
of information absent a preexisting duty to disclose.3314  

33'1a  13 Cir. 7884 (AT) (S.D.N.Y.). This case was tried in late 2016, but as of this writing (July 
2017).  a final ruling on the merits has not been entered. 

33:1  CFTC v. Wilson, 27 F. Supp. 3d 517, 531-532 (S.D.N.Y. 2014), citing CFTC v. 
McGraw-Hill Cos., 507 F. Supp. 2d 45, 51 (D.D.C. 2007). 

33.1° CFTC v. Wilson, 2016 WL 7229056 (S.D.N.Y. 2016) (slip op.), citing In re Amaranth 
Natural Gas Commodities Litigation 730 F.3d 170, 183 (2d Cir. 2013). This decision followed 
intensive briefing by both parties as well as the submission of an amicus brief from The CME Group 
Inc., Commodity Market Counsel, Futures Industry Association, Inc. Intercontinental Exchange, 
Inc., and Managed Funds Association that supported the defendants' position, 

33.2 Senator Cantwell in drafting the provision was concerned that the existing, standard under the 
Commodity Exchange Act was too stringent. 

33'3  Section 6(c)(1), 7 U.S.C. §§ 9.15, CCH Rep. 1243, as amended by § 753(a) of the 
Dodd-Frank Act Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010, Pub. Law No. 111-203, 
H.R. 4173 (111th Cong. 2d sess. 2010). ' • 

33.4  See Sec. Exch. Act § 10(b), 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b). 
33'5  See § 5.08 infra. 
33°5  In re Indiana Farm Bureau Cooperative Ass'n, [1980-1982 Transfer Binder] Comm. Fut. L. 

Rep. 11[ 21,796 (CFTC 1982). 
3"  Senator CantWell in drafting the provision was concerned that the existing standard under the 

Commodity Exchange Act was too stringent. 
33,8 Section 6(c)(1)(B), 7 U.S.C. § 9(c)(1)(B), CCH Rep. (1[ 1243. 
33'9  Section 9(a)(2), 7 U.S.C. § 13(a)(2), CCH Rep. 1341. 
33.10 Section 0(c)(3), 7 U.S.C. § 9(c)(3), CCH Rep. (1[ 1341. 
33." Section 22((a)(1)(D), 7 U.S.C. § 25, CCH Rep. 1[ 1476. 
33.12  Penalties in civil enfornement actions for, manipulation can be the greater of $1 million or 

triple the monetary gain as well as restitution and'disgorgement. Commodity Exchange Act §§ 6(c) 
and 6c, 7 U.S.C. §§ 9, and 13a-1, CCH Rep. 119[ 1243, 1271, and A criminal fine of up to $1 million 
and 10 years of incarceration' may result from a manipulation conviction under the Act. Section 
9(0(2), 7 U.S.C. §,13(0(2), CCH Rep. 1][ 1341. • 

33:13  17 C.F.R. §:180.1,.  cm Rep. 91 3301. See Prohibition on the Employment, or Attempted 
Employment, of Manipulative and Deceptive Devices and Prohibition on Price Manipulation, 76 
Fed. Reg. 41398, 2011 WL 2708211 (CFTC July 14, 2011) (adopting release), available at 
http://wWw.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/FR-2011-07L14/pdf/2011-17549.pdf.  

33'14 17 C.F.R.' §.240.10b-5. 
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enforcement division may expand its raw-power investigations to try to find other
conduct (lying to the broker about motive, not answèring phone .altr, 

"itin-ohedging need, etc.) in order to invoke the fraud-basea manilutation recklerr;;:
standard. The sEC has utilized its authority under SEC Rìte too-s ,o purr,iJ
manipulative conduct, claiming tha! tle manipulation deceived investors *g";;:
ing the market varue of securities.33 21 The CFTC may take a similar uiJ* or
Regulation section 180.1.

The commission did clarify, however, that Regulation section l g0.l and its
recklessness standard is not violated by a failure to disclose market conditions that
the actor possesses lawfully.33'22 The cFTc clarified that ..no oorn*"nr,,:e.iã
fesponse is considered to be silence and will not create liability for nondisclosure

of information absent a preexisting duty to disclose.33.2a

33 1u 13 Cir. 7S84 (AT) (S.D.N.Y.). This case was rrjed in late 201,6, but as of this writing (July

2017) a final ruling on the mer.its has not been entered.
33rbcFfc v. wilson, 27 F. Supp. 3d 5r7, 531-532 (S.D.N.Y. 2or4), citing GFTC v.

McGraw-Hill Cos., 507 F. Supp. Zd 45, 51(D.D.C. 2007).
33rccFrrc v. wilson, 20i6wLiz2g0i6 (s.D.N.y.2016) (slip op.), citing L re Amaranth

Natural Gas commodities Litigation 730 F.3d 170, 183 (2d cir. âorå1. rrtt decision followed
intensive briefing by both parties as well as the submission of al amicus brief from The CME Group
Inc', Commodity Market Counsel, Futures Industry Association, Inc. Intercontinental ExchangË,

Inc-^and Managed Funds Association that supported the defendants' position.

- 
33 t Senator Cantwell in drafting the provision was concerned that the existing standard under the

Commodity Exchange Act was too st¡ingent.
333section 6(cX1), 7 u.s.c. $$9,15, ccH Rep. ir 1243, as amended by g753(a) of the

Dodd-Frank Act Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010, pub. Law No. t t t-ZO:,
H.R. 4173 (lllth Cong. 2d sess. 2010).

3'a See Sec. Exch. Act g lO(b), 15 U.S.C. g 78j(b).
't3 s See g 5.08 in/ru.
33 6In re Indiana Farm Bureau Cooperative Ass'n, [1980*1982 Transfer Binder] Comm. Fut. L.

Rep. ![21,796 (CFTC 1982).
33 7 Senator Cantwell in drafting the provision was concerned that the existing standard under the

Commodity Exchange Act was too strÌngent.
33 8 Secrion 6(c)(1)(B), 7 U.S.C. $ S(;XlXB), CCH Rep. gt 1243.
33e-section 9(a)(2),7 U.S.C. $ 13(aX2), CCrf n.p. ll 1341.
33 r')Secrion 6(c)(3), 7 U.S.C. $ 9(cX3j, CCH Rep. gl 1341.
33rr Section 22((a)(t)(D),7 U.S.C. å 25, CCH Rep. ![ 1476.
33 r2Penalties in civil enforcement actions for manipulation can be the greater of $1 million or

triple the monetary gain as well as restitution ancl disgoigement. Commodit! Exctrange Act gg 6(c)
and6c,7 u.s.c. $. 9,and r3a-l,ccHRep.Itgl1243,1.27r,andAcriminalfineof upto$r million
and 10 years of incalceration may result from a manipulation conviction under the Act. Section

9(a)Q):7 U.S.C. $ 13(aX2), CCH Rep. gt 1341.
33 13 l7 c.F.R. g 180.1, ccH nep. g¡ r:ot. s¿¿ prohibition on rhe Employment, or Atrempted

Employment, of Manipulative and Deceptive Devices and Prohibition on-price Manipulation, 76
Fed, Reg. 41398, 2011 wL 2708211 (GFTC July 14, 20ll) (adopring rerease), available ar

http://www. gpo. gov/fdsys/pkg/FR-20 1 1 -07- 1 4/ pdf / 20tt - I75a9.pdf.
33 t4 

1'7 c.F.R. g 24o.1ob-5.
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zz15 17 C.F.R, $ 180.1, CCH Rep. t[ 3301. S¿e Prohibition on the Employment, or Attempted

Ernployment, of Manipulative and Deceptive Devices and Prohibition on Price Manipulation, 76

Fed. Reg. 41398, 2011 WL 2708211 (CFTC July 14,20Ll) (adopting release).

33'16 5r, Prohibition on the Employment, or Attempted Employment, of Manipulative and

Deceptive Devices and Prohibition on Price Manipulation, 76 Fed. Reg. 41398, 41404,2011 WL

2108211 (CFTC July 14,2011) (adopting release), quoting Drexel Burnham Lambert Inc. v. CFTC,

850 F.2d '142,748 (D.C. Cir. 1988); Sundstrand Corp. v. Sun Chem. Corp., 553 F.2d 1033, 1045 (7th

Cir.1977), cert. denied,434 U.S. 875 (1977).

33'17 5r, Prohibition on the Empioyment, or Attempted Employment, of Manipulative and

Deceptive Devices and Prohibition on Price Manipulation, T6 Fed. Reg. 41398, 2011 WL 2708211

(CFTC July 14,2011) (adopting ¡elease); 17 C.F.R. $ 180.2 ("It shall be unlawful for any person,

directly or indirectly, to manipulate or attempt to manipulate the price of âny swap, or of any

commodity in interstate commerce, or for future delivery on or subject to the rules of any registered

entity."). The Commission relied on section 6(cX3) as the authority for Reg. $ 180.2. This is in

contrast to the recklessness approach ofReg. $ 180,1 that is derived from the authority on section

6(cX1) of the Act.
33'18 Prohibition on the Employment, ol Attempted Employment, of Manipulative and Deceptive

Devices and Prohibition on Price Manipulation, T6 Fed. Reg.41398, 41407,2011 WL2708211

(CFTC July 14,2011) (adopting release).
3: tr1n ¡un. 201.2, the CFTC exercised its new authority under section 6(cX1) of the Act, as

amended, and Regulation section 180.1(a) (17 C.F.R. $ 180.1(a)), making it unlawful for any person,

in connection with a contract of sale of any commodity in interstate commerce, to intentionally or

recklessly defraud, filing a complaint against Ronnie Gene Wilson and his company, Atlantic

Bullion & Coin, Inc., for allegedly selling fraudulent contracts of sale of silver in a nationwide

scheme. Compl., U.S. CFIC v. Atlantic Bullion & Coin, Inc. & Ronnie Gene Wilson. Civil, filed

Jun.06,2012 (D.S.C. Anderson Division) (No. 8:12-1503-JMC), available at http://www.cftc.gov/

ucm/groups/public/@lrenforcementactions/documents/legalpleading/enfatlanticcomplaint0606l2

.pdf. At the time of this writing (October 2013), the case rqmains pending in the U.S. District

Court for the Southern District of South Carolina.
33 20 Prohibition on the Employment, or Attempted Employment, of Manipulative and Deceptive

Devices and Prohibition on Price Manipulation, T6 Fed. Reg.41398, 41407,2011 WL2708211

(CFTC July 14,2011) (adopting release):

In response to the comments received regarding this rnatter, the Commission reiterates

that, in applying finai Rule 180.2, it will be guided by the traditìonal four-part test for

manipulation that has developed in case law arising under 6(c) and 9(a)(2): (1) That the

accused had the ability to influence market prices; (2) that the accused specifically

intended to cl'eate or effect a price or price trend that does not reflect legitimate forces

of supply and demand; (3) that a¡tificial prices existed; and (4) that the accused caused

the artificial prices.

(fbotnotes omitted).

3321 See, e.g., Gurary v. Winehouse; 190 F.3d 37, 45 (2d Cir.1999) ("The gravamen of

manipulation is deception of investors into believing that prices at which they purchase and sell

securities are determined by the natural interplay of supply and demand, not rigged by manipula-

tors") (relying on Schreiber v, Burlington Northern, [nc,,472 U.S. 1 (1985)).

:: zz p.*. $ 180.1(b), 17 C.F.R. $ 180.1(b), CCH Rep. 9[ 3301 ("Nothing in this section shall be

construed to require any person to disclose to another person nonpublic information that may be

material to the market price, rate, or level of the commodity transaction, except as necessary to make

any statement made to the other person in or in connectìon with the transaction not misleading in

any material respect."). S¿e Prohibition on the Employment, or Attempted Employment, of

Manipulative and Deceptive Devices and Prohibition on Price Manipulation, '16 Fed, Reg. 41398,

41402,2011 WL2708211 (CFTC July 14,2011) ("it is not a violation of final Rule 180.1 to
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33.15 17 C.F.R. §'180.1, CCH Rep. 3301. See Prohibition on the Employment, or Attempted 
Employment, of Manipulative and 'Deceptive Devices and Prohibition on Price Manipulation, 76 
Fed. Reg. 41398, 2011 WL 2708211 (CFTC July 14, 2011) (adopting release). 

33.16 See Prohibition on the Employment, or Attempted Employment, of Manipulative and 
Deceptive Devices and Prohibition on Price Manipulation, 76 Fed. Reg. 41398, 41404, 2011 WL 
2708211 (CFTC July 14, 2011) (adopting release), quoting Drexel Burnham Lambert Inc. v. CFTC, 
850 F.2d• 742, 748 (D.C. Cir. 1988); Sundstrand Corp. v, Sun Chem. Corp., 553 F.2d 1033, 1045 (7th 
Cir. 1977), cert. denied, 434 U.S. 875 (1977). 

33'17  See Prohibition on the Employment, or Attempted Employment, of Manipulative and 
Deceptive Devices and Prohibition on Price Manipulation, 76 Fed. Reg. 41398, 2011 WL 2708211 
(CFTC July 14, 2011) (adopting release); 17 C.F.R. § 180.2 ("It shall be unlawful for any person, 
directly or indirectly, to manipulate or attempt to manipulate the price of any swap, or of any 
commodity in interstate commerce, or for future delivery on or subject to the rules of any registered 
entity."). The Commission relied on section 6(c)(3) as the authority for Reg. § 180.2. This is in 
contrast to the recklessness approach of Reg. § 180,1 that is derived from the authority on section 
6(c)(1) of the Act. 

33.18 Prohibition on the Employment, or Attempted Employinent, of Manipulative and Deceptive 
Devices and Prohibition on Price Manipulation, 76 Fed. Reg. 41398, 41407, 2011 WL 2708211 
(CFTC July 14, 2011) (adopting release). 

33.19 In June 2012, the CFTC exercised its new authority under section 6(c)(1) of the Act, as 
amended, and Regulation section 180.1(a) (17 C.F.R. § 180.1(a)), making it unlawful for any person, 
in connection with a contract of sale of any commodity in interstate commerce, to intentionally or 
recklessly defraud, filing a complaint against Ronnie Gene Wilson and his company, Atlantic 
Bullion & Coin, Inc., for allegedly selling fraudulent contracts of sale of silver in a nationwide 
scheme. Compl., U.S. CFTC v. Atlantic Bullion & Coin, Inc. & Ronnie Gene Wilson. Civil, filed 
Jun. 06, 2012 (D.S.C. Anderson Division) (No. 8:12-1503-JMC), available at http://www.cftc.gov/ 
ucm/groups/public/ @ lrenforcementactions/documents/legalpleading/enfatlanticcomplaint060612 
.pdf. At the time of this writing (October 2013), the, case remains pending, in the U.S. District 
Court for the Southern District of ,South Carolina. 

33'20  Prohibition on the Employment, or Attempted Employment, of Manipulative and Deceptive 
Devices and Prohibition on Price Manipulation, 76 Fed. Reg. 41398, 41407, 2011 WL 2708211 
(CFTC July 14, 2011) (adopting release): 

In response to the comments received regarding this matter, the Commission reiterates 
that, in applying final Rule 180.2, it will be guided by the traditional four-part test for 
manipulation that has developed in case law arising under 6(c) and 9(a)(2): (1) That the 
accused had the ability to influence market prices; (2) that the accused specifically 
intended to create or effect a price or price trend that does nOt reflect legitimate forces 
of supply and demand; (3) that artificial prices existed; and (4) that the accused caused 
the artificial prices. 

(footnotes omitted). 

33'21  See, e.g., Gurary v. Winehouse, 190 F.3d 37, 45 (2d Cir.1999) ("The gravamen of 
manipulation is deception of investors into believing that prices at which they purchase and sell 
securities are determined by the natural interplay of supply and demand, not rigged by manipula-
tors") (relying on Schreiber v. Burlington Northern, Inc., 472 U.S. 1 (1985)). 

33.22 Reg. § 180.1(b), 17 C.F.R. § 180.1(W, CCH Rep. 91 3301 ("Nothing in this section shall be 
construed to require any person to disclose to another person nonpublic information that may be 
material to the market price, rate, or level of the commodity transaction, except as necessary to make 
any statement made to the other person in or in connection with the transaction`not misleading in 
any material respect."). See Prohibition on the Employment, or Attempted Employment, Of 
Manipulative and Deceptive Devices and Prohibition on Price Manipulation, 76 Fed: Reg. 41398, 
41402, 2011 WL 2708211 (CFTC July 14; 2011) ("it is not a violation of final Rule 180.1 to 
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enforcement division may expand its raw-power investigations to try to find other
conduct (lying to the broker about motive, not answèring phone .altr, 

"itin-ohedging need, etc.) in order to invoke the fraud-basea manilutation recklerr;;:
standard. The sEC has utilized its authority under SEC Rìte too-s ,o purr,iJ
manipulative conduct, claiming tha! tle manipulation deceived investors *g";;:
ing the market varue of securities.33 21 The CFTC may take a similar uiJ* or
Regulation section 180.1.

The commission did clarify, however, that Regulation section l g0.l and its
recklessness standard is not violated by a failure to disclose market conditions that
the actor possesses lawfully.33'22 The cFTc clarified that ..no oorn*"nr,,:e.iã
fesponse is considered to be silence and will not create liability for nondisclosure
of information absent a preexisting duty to disclose.33.2a

33 1u 13 Cir. 7S84 (AT) (S.D.N.Y.). This case was rrjed in late 201,6, but as of this writing (July
2017) a final ruling on the mer.its has not been entered.33rbcFfc v. wilson, 27 F. Supp. 3d 5r7, 531-532 (S.D.N.Y. 2or4), citing GFTC v.McGraw-Hill Cos., 507 F. Supp. Zd 45, 51(D.D.C. 2007).33rccFrrc v. wilson, 20i6wLiz2g0i6 (s.D.N.y.2016) (slip op.), citing L re Amaranth
Natural Gas commodities Litigation 730 F.3d 170, 183 (2d cir. âorå1. rrtt decision followed
intensive briefing by both parties as well as the submission of al amicus brief from The CME Group
Inc', Commodity Market Counsel, Futures Industry Association, Inc. Intercontinental ExchangË,
Inc-^and Managed Funds Association that supported the defendants' position.

- 
33 t Senator Cantwell in drafting the provision was concerned that the existing standard under the

Commodity Exchange Act was too st¡ingent.
333section 6(cX1), 7 u.s.c. $$9,15, ccH Rep. ir 1243, as amended by g753(a) of the

Dodd-Frank Act Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010, pub. Law No. t t t-ZO:,
H.R. 4173 (lllth Cong. 2d sess. 2010).

3'a 
See Sec. Exch. Act g lO(b), 15 U.S.C. g 78j(b).

't3 s See g 5.08 in/ru.
33 6In re Indiana Farm Bureau Cooperative Ass'n, [1980*1982 Transfer Binder] Comm. Fut. L.

Rep. ![21,796 (CFTC 1982).
33 7 Senator Cantwell in drafting the provision was concerned that the existing standard under the

Commodity Exchange Act was too strÌngent.
33 8 Secrion 6(c)(1)(B), 7 U.S.C. $ S(;XlXB), CCH Rep. gt 1243.33e-section 9(a)(2),7 U.S.C. $ 13(aX2), CCrf n.p. ll 1341.
33 r')Secrion 6(c)(3), 7 U.S.C. $ 9(cX3j, CCH Rep. gl 1341.33rr Section 22((a)(t)(D),7 U.S.C. å 25, CCH Rep. ![ 1476.
33 r2Penalties in civil enforcement actions for manipulation can be the greater of $1 million or

triple the monetary gain as well as restitution ancl disgoigement. Commodit! Exctrange Act gg 6(c)
and6c,7 u.s.c. $. 9,and r3a-l,ccHRep.Itgl1243,1.27r,andAcriminalfineof upto$r million
and 10 years of incalceration may result from a manipulation conviction under the Act. Section
9(a)Q):7 U.S.C. $ 13(aX2), CCH Rep. gt 1341.

33 13 l7 c.F.R. g 180.1, ccH nep. g¡ r:ot. s¿¿ prohibition on rhe Employment, or Atrempted
Employment, of Manipulative and Deceptive Devices and Prohibition on-price Manipulation, 76
Fed, Reg. 41398, 2011 wL 2708211 (GFTC July 14, 20ll) (adopring rerease), available ar
http://www. gpo. gov/fdsys/pkg/FR-20 1 1 -07- 1 4/ pdf / 20tt - I75a9.pdf.

33 t4 
1'7 c.F.R. g 24o.1ob-5.
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zz15 17 C.F.R, $ 180.1, CCH Rep. t[ 3301. S¿e Prohibition on the Employment, or Attempted

Ernployment, of Manipulative and Deceptive Devices and Prohibition on Price Manipulation, 76

Fed. Reg. 41398, 2011 WL 2708211 (CFTC July 14,20Ll) (adopting release).
33'16 5r, Prohibition on the Employment, or Attempted Employment, of Manipulative and

Deceptive Devices and Prohibition on Price Manipulation, 76 Fed. Reg. 41398, 41404,2011 WL

2108211 (CFTC July 14,2011) (adopting release), quoting Drexel Burnham Lambert Inc. v. CFTC,

850 F.2d '142,748 (D.C. Cir. 1988); Sundstrand Corp. v. Sun Chem. Corp., 553 F.2d 1033, 1045 (7th

Cir.1977), cert. denied,434 U.S. 875 (1977).
33'17 5r, Prohibition on the Empioyment, or Attempted Employment, of Manipulative and

Deceptive Devices and Prohibition on Price Manipulation, T6 Fed. Reg. 41398, 2011 WL 2708211

(CFTC July 14,2011) (adopting ¡elease); 17 C.F.R. $ 180.2 ("It shall be unlawful for any person,

directly or indirectly, to manipulate or attempt to manipulate the price of âny swap, or of any

commodity in interstate commerce, or for future delivery on or subject to the rules of any registered

entity."). The Commission relied on section 6(cX3) as the authority for Reg. $ 180.2. This is in
contrast to the recklessness approach ofReg. $ 180,1 that is derived from the authority on section

6(cX1) of the Act.
33'18 Prohibition on the Employment, ol Attempted Employment, of Manipulative and Deceptive

Devices and Prohibition on Price Manipulation, T6 Fed. Reg.41398, 41407,2011 WL2708211
(CFTC July 14,2011) (adopting release).

3: tr1n ¡un. 201.2, the CFTC exercised its new authority under section 6(cX1) of the Act, as

amended, and Regulation section 180.1(a) (17 C.F.R. $ 180.1(a)), making it unlawful for any person,

in connection with a contract of sale of any commodity in interstate commerce, to intentionally or

recklessly defraud, filing a complaint against Ronnie Gene Wilson and his company, Atlantic
Bullion & Coin, Inc., for allegedly selling fraudulent contracts of sale of silver in a nationwide

scheme. Compl., U.S. CFIC v. Atlantic Bullion & Coin, Inc. & Ronnie Gene Wilson. Civil, filed
Jun.06,2012 (D.S.C. Anderson Division) (No. 8:12-1503-JMC), available at http://www.cftc.gov/
ucm/groups/public/@lrenforcementactions/documents/legalpleading/enfatlanticcomplaint0606l2
.pdf. At the time of this writing (October 2013), the case rqmains pending in the U.S. District
Court for the Southern District of South Carolina.

33 20 Prohibition on the Employment, or Attempted Employment, of Manipulative and Deceptive
Devices and Prohibition on Price Manipulation, T6 Fed. Reg.41398, 41407,2011 WL2708211
(CFTC July 14,2011) (adopting release):

In response to the comments received regarding this rnatter, the Commission reiterates
that, in applying finai Rule 180.2, it will be guided by the traditìonal four-part test for
manipulation that has developed in case law arising under 6(c) and 9(a)(2): (1) That the
accused had the ability to influence market prices; (2) that the accused specifically
intended to cl'eate or effect a price or price trend that does not reflect legitimate forces
of supply and demand; (3) that a¡tificial prices existed; and (4) that the accused caused
the artificial prices.

(fbotnotes omitted).

3321 See, e.g., Gurary v. Winehouse; 190 F.3d 37, 45 (2d Cir.1999) ("The gravamen of
manipulation is deception of investors into believing that prices at which they purchase and sell

securities are determined by the natural interplay of supply and demand, not rigged by manipula-
tors") (relying on Schreiber v, Burlington Northern, [nc,,472 U.S. 1 (1985)).

:: zz p.*. $ 180.1(b), 17 C.F.R. $ 180.1(b), CCH Rep. 9[ 3301 ("Nothing in this section shall be

construed to require any person to disclose to another person nonpublic information that may be

material to the market price, rate, or level of the commodity transaction, except as necessary to make

any statement made to the other person in or in connectìon with the transaction not misleading in
any material respect."). S¿e Prohibition on the Employment, or Attempted Employment, of
Manipulative and Deceptive Devices and Prohibition on Price Manipulation, '16 Fed, Reg. 41398,
41402,2011 WL2708211 (CFTC July 14,2011) ("it is not a violation of final Rule 180.1 to
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withhold information that a market participant lawfully possesses about market conditions. The 
failure to disclose such market information prior to entering into a transaction, either in an 
anonymous market setting or in bilateral negotiations, will not, by itself, constitute a violation of 
final Rule 180.1"). 

33'23  See Prohibition on the Employment, or Attempted Employment, of Manipulative and 
Deceptive Devices and Prohibition on Price Manipulation, 76 Fed. Reg. 41398, 41402-03, 2011 WL 
2708211 (CFTC July 14, 2011) ("the Commission interprets `no comment' statements as 'generally 
the functional equivalent of silence"). 

33.24 See Prohibition on the Employment, or Attempted Employment, of , Manipulative and 
Deceptive Devices and Prohibition on Price Manipulation, 76 Fed. Reg. 41398, 41402, 2011 WI., 
2708211 (CFTC July 14, 2011) ("the Commission clarifies that silence, absent a pre-existing duty 
to disclose, is not deceptive within the meaning of final Rule 180.1"). 

§ 5.05[5] Use of. Step-Up Orders 

Page 1274. Add the following new text after the last sentence of the 
paragraph carrying over from page 1273: 

Another possible manipulative motive underlying step-up orders is to affect the 
final settlement price which in turn can reduce the size of margin calls. 

Marking the Close 

One variety of manipulation involves placing an order at the end of the day 
to set the closing price for the purpose of setting the stage for advantageous trades 
the next day. When made with the intent to manipulate an order marking the close 
violates the Act.43'1  Marking the close in the securities markets is also considered 
to be manipulation.43.2  

43.1 See, e.g., CFTC v. Amaranth Advisors, L.L.C., 554 F. Supp. 2d 523 (S.D.N.Y. 2008) 
(sufficient allegations of manipulation). 

43'2  See, e.g., T.H.C., Inc. v. Fortune Petroleum Corp., 1999 WL 182593 *3 n. 5 (S.D.N,Y. 1999); 
SEC v. Schiffer, 1998 WL 226101 at *1 n. 3 (S,D.N.Y. 1998) (" 'Iparking the close' is the practice 
of repeatedly executing the last transaction of the day in a security in order to affect its closing 
price"), Litigation Release No. 16955, 2001 WL 345219 (SEC April 9, 2001) (entry of permanent 
injunction); In re Baron Capital, Inc., Sec. Exch. Act Rel. No. 34-47751, 80 S.E.C. Docket 202, 2003 
WL 1960928 at *5 SEC (April 29, 2003) ("Marking the close' is the practice of attempting to 
influence the closing price of a stock by executing purchase or sale orders at or near the close of the 
market. In the Matter of the Application of Thomas C. Kocherans, 60 S.E.C. Docket 2210 (1995). 
Marking the close is a manipulative practice within the meaning of the federal securities laws. Id."); 
In the Matter of Chema, Sec. Exch. Act Rel. No. 34-40719, 68 S.E.C. Docket 1911, 1998 WL 
820658 (SEC Nov. 30, 1998) (order imposing sanctions); In the Matter of Havill, Sec. Exch. Act Rel. 
No. 34-40726, 68 S.E.C. Docket 1929, 68 S.E.C. Docket 1934, 1998 WL 823070 (SEC Nov. 30, 
1998) (order imposing sanctions); In the Matter of Pack, Sec. Exch. Act Rel. No. 34-32374, 54 
S.E.C. Docket 387, 1993 WL 183820 (SEC May 27, 1993) (consent to cease-and-desist order); In 
the Matter of Warner, Sec. Exch. Act Rel. No. 34-31656, 53 S.E.C. Docket 213, 1992 WL 394584 
(SEC Dec. 23, 1992). (same); In the Matter of. Reimer, NASDR Complaint, http://www.nasdr.com/ 
news/pr2002/release_02_026.htm1 (NASDR June 26, 2002); In the Matter of Morgan Stanley & Co., 
NASD Complaint No. CMS960235, 2000 WL 558561 (NASDR Jan. 18, 2000) (imposing NASD 
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withhold information thât a market participant lawfully possesses about market conditions. .¡þs

failure to disclose such market information prior to entering into a transaction, either in 4n
anonymous market setting or in bilateral negotiations, will not, by itself, constitut. u ololation åì
finalRule 180.1').

33'23 see Prohibition on the Employment, or Attempted Emproyment, of Manipurative and

Deceptive Devices and prohibition on price Manipulation, 76 Fed. îr"g. +r:lt, 41402_03,201 1 wL
2708211 (CFTC July 14,2011) ("the Commission interprets 'no comÃent' statements as .generally

the functional equivalent of silence"').
33'2a see Prohibition on the Employment, or Attempted Employment, of Manipulative ând

Deçeptive Devices and prohibition on price Manipulation, 76 Fed. Reg. 41398, 41402,2011 wL
2708211 (CFTC July 1'4, 2011) ("the Commission clarifies that silencel absent a pre-exisring dury
to disclose, is not deceptive within the meaning of final Rule 1g0.1,,).

S 5.05t51 Use of Step-Up Orders

Pøge 1274, Add the fouowing new text after the rast sentence of the
paragraph cørrying over from pøge 1273:

Another possible manipulative motive underlying step-up orders is to affect the
final settlement price which in turn can reduce the size ôf margin calls.

Marking the Close

one variety of manipulation invorves pracing an order at the end of the day
to set the closing price for the purpose of seiting the stage for advantageous trades

the next day. Wh.en made with the intent to manipulate ãn order marking the close
violates the Act.a3'I Marking the close in the securities markets is also considered

to be manipulation.a3 2

a3 t see, e'g', cFTC v. Amaranth Advisors, L.L.c., 554 F. supp. 2d 523 (s.D.N,y. 200g)
(sufficient allegations of manipulation).

o''2 see, e.g., T.H.c., Inc. v. Fortune petroleum corp., r999 wL rgzsg3*3 n. 5 (s,D.N,y. 1999);

SEC v. schiffer, 1998 wL 22610r at *1 n. 3 (s.D.N.i. 199g) c, 
,marking 

rhe close, is rhe practice

of repeatedly executing the last transacrion of the day in a s.curity t;;;;; to affect its closing
price"), Litigation Release No. 16955, 2001 v/L 345ilg (sEC April g,2o0l) (entry of permanenr

injunction); In re Baron Capital, Inc., Sec. Exch. Act Rel, No. ¡¿-¿izst, so s.É.c. Docker 202,2003
wL 1960928 ar *5 SEC (April 29, 2003) ("'Marking rhe crose, is ti. pru.ti.. of artempring to
influence the closing price of a stock by executing purchase or sale orders at or near the close of the

market' In the Matter of the Application of Thorias c. Kocherans, 60 s.E,c. Docket zzl0 (lggs).
Marking fhe close is a manipulative practice within the meaning of the fede|al securities laws. 1d.,,);

In the Matter of chema, Sec. Exch. Act Rel. No. 34-40719,6g s.E.c. Docker 191r, 199g wL
820658 (SEC Nov. 30, 1993) (order imposing sanctions); In the Matrer of Havill, Sec. Exch. Acr Rel.

No.34'40726,68 s.E.c. Docket rgzg,68 s.E.c. ooctcet 1934, rgg| wL 823070 (sEC Nov. 30,

1998) (order imposing sancrions); In the Mafter of pack, sec. Exch. Act Rel. No. 34_32374, 54

S'E'C' Docket 387,1993IVL 183820 (SEC May 2'l ,1993) (consent to cease-and-desisr order); In
the Matter of warner, sec. Exch. Act Rer. No. 34-31656, 53 s.E,c. Docket 2r3, 1gg2wL3g4sg4
(SEC Dec' 23, 1992) (same); In the Matter of Reimer, NASDR Complaint, tritp:llwww.nasdr.com/

newslpt2002lrelease-02-026.html(NASDR lune26,2002);lntrrerr¿aite.oiuårgansranley&co.,

NASD compraint No. cMS960235, 2000 wL 55856r (NASDR Jan. 18, zooó) (imposing NASD
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sanctions for marking the close vìolations); In the Matter of Jawitz, Complaint No. CMS960238,

1999 WL rc22138 (NASDR July 9, 1999) (same).

s s.06

s 5.06111

THE COURTS AND COMMISSION ON MANIPUTATION

a

Specific fudicial Definitions of Manipulation, Corners, and

Squeezes

Pa.ge 1275, Add the following to footnote 4:

See also, e.g., CFTC Charges BP Manipulated Prices on Propane by Cornering

Market, CFTC v. BP Products North America Inc., N.D. Ill., 06C-3503,6128106,

Securities L. Daily (BNA), http://pubs.bna.com/ip/bna/sld.nsf/eh/A0B2Y8B3K8

(June 30, 2A0q, But cf. United States v. Radley, 659 F. Supp. 2d 803 (S.D. Tex.

2009) (insufficient allegations of a corner).

S 5.06t21 The Commission's Definition of Manipulation

Pøge 1279. Add the following text after the s,econd full paragraph:

In July 2014, theCFTC issued an order bringing and settling charges against

Lloyds Banking Group plc and its subsidiaries (collectively, "Lloyds") for acts of

false reporting, manipulation, and attempted manipulation of the London Inter-

bank Offered Rate (LIBOR) for Sterling, U.S, Dollar, and Yen.231 The order

includes findings that:

From mid 2006-2009 Lloyds and HBOS (acquired by Lloyds in 2009), were

members of the panel of banks submitting rates for the determination of

LIBOR in Sterling, U.S. Dollar, Yen, and other currencies. During this period,

on numerous occasions, the rate submitters for Lloyds and HBOS, separately

arid at times in collusion with each other, made false submissions and

attempted to manipulate Sterling LIBOR in order'to benefit the cash and

derivative positions of their respective organizations;

From mid 2006-2008, the Lloyds Yen LIBOR submitter colluded with the Yen

LIBOR submitter at Rabobank to adjust their respective Yen LIBOR submis-

sions in order to benefit the trading positions of the respective banks;

Prior to its acquisition, F{BOS artificially lowered its U.S. Dollar and Sterling

LIBOR submissions to protect its market reputation and avoid a perception of

an urgent need for cash; and

Lloyds and HBOS attempted to manipulate Sterling LIBOR to benefit their

respective trading positions.

The CFTC found that the submitters made submissions that did not reflect

their honest assessment of Lloyd's borrowing unsecured interbank funds, and,
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